

COPYRIGHT AND USE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis must be used in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Reproduction of material protected by copyright may be an infringement of copyright and copyright owners may be entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright.

Section 51 (2) of the Copyright Act permits an authorized officer of a university library or archives to provide a copy (by communication or otherwise) of an unpublished thesis kept in the library or archives, to a person who satisfies the authorized officer that he or she requires the reproduction for the purposes of research or study.

The Copyright Act grants the creator of a work a number of moral rights, specifically the right of attribution, the right against false attribution and the right of integrity.

You may infringe the author's moral rights if you:

- fail to acknowledge the author of this thesis if you quote sections from the work
- attribute this thesis to another author
- subject this thesis to derogatory treatment which may prejudice the author's reputation

For further information contact the University's Copyright Service.

sydney.edu.au/copyright



The Extent of Root Resorption Following the Application of Ascending and Descending Magnetic Forces: A micro-CT Study

Tiffany Teen Yu Huang

Discipline of Orthodontics Faculty of Dentistry University of Sydney Australia

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Clinical Dentistry (Orthodontics)

October 2011

Dedication

For my family and Ray.

Declaration

Candidate Certificate

This is to certify that the candidate carried out the work in this thesis in the Department of Orthodontics, University of Sydney and it has not been submitted to any other University or Institution for a higher degree

.....

Tiffany Teen Yu Huang

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to the following people:

Professor M. Ali Darendeliler for this opportunity to learn.

Professor Tamer Turk for his organization of the experimental step of this work.

Dr Carmen Gonzales and Dr Oyku Dalci for their guidance and assistance.

Dr Ersan Karadeniz for his help in tooth movement measurement and friendship.

Dr Angie Phelan for her help in magnet measurement and friendship throughout the course.

Associate Professor Allan Jones and Mr Dennis Dwarte for their help with the micro - CT and VG Studio Max software.

Associate Professor Peter Petocz for his help in statistical analysis.

My gratefulness to my family:

my parents Melissa and Eric, and

my brothers Raymond and Phil

for their unconditional love and support.

My true appreciation to my partner Ray who stood by me every step of the way.

My gratitude to those who have inspired, guided and supported me throughout this journey.

Contents

De	eclaration	3
Ac	cknowledgements	4
Co	ontents	5
At	bbreviations	9
1.	INTRODUCTION	12
2.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	14
/	2.1. Periodontium	14
	2.1.1. Bone	14
	2.1.1.1. The Structure of Bone	15
	2.1.1.2. Bone Biomechanics	16
	2.1.1.2.1. Bone Formation - Osteogenesis	17
	2.1.1.2.2. Bone Resorption	17
	2.1.1.2.3. Bone Modelling and Remodelling	18
	2.1.2. Periodontal Ligament	19
	2.1.3. Cementum	20
	2.1.3.1. Composition of Cementum	21
	2.1.3.1.1. Organic Matrix	21
	2.1.3.1.2. Inorganic Matrix – Mineral Component	21
	2.1.3.2. Classification of Cementum	22
	2.1.3.2.1. Acellular Afibrillar Cementum	23
	2.1.3.2.2. Acellular Extrinsic Fibre Cementum	23
	2.1.3.2.3. Cellular Intrinsic Fibre Cementum	24
	2.1.3.3. Development of Cementum	24
	2.1.3.4. Distribution of Cementum	25
/	2.2. Tooth Movement	26
	2.2.1. Theories of Tooth Movement	26
	2.2.1.1. The Pressure-Tension Theory	26
	2.2.1.2. The Bone Bending - Bioelectric Theory	

2.2.2. Phases of Tooth movement	30
2.2.3. Factors Affecting Tooth Movement	31
2.2.3.1. Force Magnitude	31
2.2.3.2. Types of Tooth Movement	34
2.2.3.3. Force Duration	36
2.2.3.4. Growth and Age	37
2.2.3.5. Periodontal Health	37
2.2.3.6. Bone Density	38
2.2.3.7. Metabolic Bone Disease	38
2.2.3.8. Hormonal Influence	39
2.2.3.9. Pharmacological Agents	40
2.2.3.10. Dietary Factors	42
2.2.3.11. Electromagnetic Influences	42
2.3. Root Resorption	44
2.3.1. Definition of Root Resorption	44
2.3.2. Classification of Root Resorption	44
2.3.3. Orthodontically Induced Inflammatory Root Resorption (OIIRR).	46
2.3.3.1. Incidence of OIIRR	47
2.3.3.2. Diagnosis of OIIRR	49
2.3.3.3. Mechanisms of Root resorption	50
2.3.3.4. Aetiology	53
2.3.3.4.1. Biological and Environmental Factors	53
2.3.3.4.1.1. Genetics, Ethnicity and Individual susceptibility	53
2.3.3.4.1.2. Endocrine Imbalance	55
2.3.3.4.1.3. Nutrition	56
2.3.3.4.1.4. Asthma and allergy	56
2.3.3.4.1.5. Gender, chronological and dental age	57
2.3.3.4.1.6. Habits	58
2.3.3.4.1.7. Medications	59
2.3.3.4.2. Dental Risk Factors	60

2.3.3.4.2.1. History of previous root resorption prior to orthodonti	с 60
	00
2.3.3.4.2.2. History of trauma	00
2.3.3.4.2.3. History of enaoaontic treatment	01
2.3.3.4.2.4. Hypofunctional Periodontium	61
2.3.3.4.2.5. Alveolar bone density and turnover rate	62
2.3.3.4.2.6. Abnormal root morphology and dental anomalies	62
2.3.3.4.2.7. Specific tooth and site susceptibility	63
2.3.3.4.2.8. Types of Malocclusion and proximity to cortical plate.	64
2.3.3.4.3. Mechanical Risk Factors	65
2.3.3.4.3.1. Orthodontic Appliances	65
2.3.3.4.3.2. Treatment duration	66
2.3.3.4.3.3. Direction of force application	66
2.3.3.4.3.4. Magnitude of force application	68
2.3.3.4.3.5. Duration of force application	69
2.3.3.4.3.6. Distance of tooth movement	69
2.3.3.4.3.7. Extraction versus Non extraction treatment	70
2.3.3.5. Prevention and Management of Orthodontically Induced	
Inflammatory Root Resorption	70
2.4. Magnets and magnetic fields	72
2.4.1. Magnetic properties and types	72
2.4.1.1. Magnetisation	73
2.4.1.2. Magnetic properties of matter	74
2.4.1.3. Permanent magnets	75
2.4.1.3.1. Alnico magnets	76
2.4.1.3.2. Cobalt-platinum magnets	76
2.4.1.3.3. Ferrite magnets	76
2.4.1.3.4. Rare earth magnets	77
2.4.1.3.4.1. Samarium-Cobalt magnets	77
2.4.1.3.4.2. Neodymium-iron-boron magnets	78
2.4.1.3.4.3. Samarium-iron-nitride magnets	78

2.4.2. Biological considerations	78
2.4.2.1. Surface oxidation and coating	79
2.4.2.2. Static magnetic fields	80
2.4.3. Application of magnetic forces in orthodontics	82
2.4.3.1. Molar distalisation	82
2.4.3.2. Extrusion	83
2.4.3.3. Impacted teeth	84
2.4.3.4. Retention	85
3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	87
3.1. Mach-1 universal testing machine	87
3.2. X-Ray Microtomography	87
3.3. Use Of Palatal Rugae and Orthodontic Tooth Movement	90
3.4. 3 Dimensional Laser Surface Scanner	90
4. REFERENCES	92
5. MANUSCRIPT	120
5.1. Abstract	125
5.2. Introduction	126
5.3. Material and Methods	129
5.4. Results	135
5.5. Discussion	137
5.6. Conclusions	141
5.7. References	142
5.8. Figures and Tables	150
5.9. Figure and Table Captions	156
6. APPENDICES	158
6.1. Patient Selection Criteria	158
6.2. Mach-1 universal testing machine	159
6.3. Laserdenta 3D surface scanner	160
6.4. Specimen Storage and Preparation	162
6.5. Skyscan 1172 Micro CT (Skyscan, Aartselaar, Belgium)	163
7. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	166

Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BSP	Bonesialoprotein
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
cN	centi-Newton
COX	Cyclooxygenase
CSF-1	Colony stimulating factor 1
DHCC	Dehydroxycholecalciferol
EARR	External apical root resorption
ECM	Extra cellular matrix
ECRM	Epithelial cell rests of Malassez
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
F	Fluoride
FE	Finite element
FEM	Finite element model
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
HERS	Hertwig's epithelial root sheath
HF	Hydrogen fluoride
IGFs	Insulin-like growth factors
IL-1	Interleukin 1
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta

IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-8	Interleukin 8
kV	Kilo volts
LIPUS	Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound
MFP	Sodium monofluorophosphate
Micro - CT	Micro computed tomography
NaF	Sodium fluoride
Ni-Ti	Nickel Titanium
NSAID	Non-streroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OIIRR	Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption
OPG	Osteoprotegrin
OPN	Osteopontin
OTM	Orthodontic tooth movement
PDL	Periodontal ligament
PGs	Prostaglandins
PGE1	Prostaglandin E1
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
РТН	Parathyroid hormone
PTHrP	Parathyroid related protein
RANK	Receptor-activator of nuclear factor-Kappa
RANKL	Receptor-activator of nuclear factor-Kappa ligand
RR	Root resorption
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TIFF	Tagged Image File Format

TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TNSALP	Tissue non specific alkaline phosphatise
TRAP	Tartrate resistant acid phosphatase
T/P	Tissue/ plasma rate
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide
2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
% wt	Dry weight percentage

1. INTRODUCTION

Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption (OIIRR) is an unavoidable side effect of orthodontic treatment. Orthodontic force activation creates compression and tension zones in the PDL with hyalinization occurring in over compressed zones. Root resorption (RR) occurs from the loss of mineralised cementum and dentine concurrent with removal of hyalinized tissue ¹⁻³.

The aetiology of OIIRR is multifactorial with risk factors classified under three main groups: biological, dental and mechanical risk factors. Biological factors include genetic factors⁴⁻⁶, ethnicity⁷, endocrine imbalances⁸⁻¹¹, nutrition^{8,9,12}, asthma and allergy¹³⁻¹⁵, gender^{4,7,16,17}, chronological and dental age^{4,12,18,19}, medications²⁰⁻²³ and habits^{17,24-26}. Dental risk factors include root shape and dental anomalies²⁷⁻³¹, history of trauma^{12,24,32,33}, endodontically treated teeth³⁴⁻³⁷, presence of RR before orthodontic treatment¹⁹, periodontal status³⁸⁻⁴⁰, proximity of cortical plate⁴¹, alveolar bone density and turnover rate⁴²⁻⁴⁴. Mechanical risk factors including the treatment duration^{30,45-50}, type of appliance^{12,51-54}, magnitude of applied force⁵⁵⁻⁶¹, duration of force application⁶²⁻⁶⁶, type and extent of tooth movement⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹, and extraction and non extraction treatment^{51,68,70}. There is still no consensus in the literature regarding most of these risk factors.

Magnetic forces have been used in orthodontics for tooth movement⁷¹⁻⁷⁵ with varying degrees of success. Using magnets, it is possible to deliver gradual and smooth change in force magnitude with the force produced by the magnets inversely proportional to the fourth root of the distance between them⁷⁶. In addition, magnets deliver predictable force levels with no loss of force and provide frictionless mechanics^{77,78}. Magnets are capable of delivering either ascending or descending force magnitudes by being positioned in attraction or repulsion orientations respectively.

Currently there is no reported human studies of OIIRR utilising ascending and descending forces using magnetic appliances. The aim of this study was, therefore, to investigate the amount of OIIRR and tooth movement using ascending and descending forces generated by magnets.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The process of tooth movement and RR consists of the complex interaction between alveolar bone, PDL and root cementum. The biology of periodontium is therefore vital in the understanding of the biology of tooth movement, RR and repair process.

2.1. Periodontium

The periodontium is comprised of alveolar bone, root cementum, periodontal ligament, and dentogingival junction⁷⁹.

2.1.1. Bone

Bone provides structural support for the body and serves as a reservoir for the maintenance and balance of mineral, acid-base, growth factors, cytokines and haematopoiesis within the marrow spaces⁸⁰. It has a high dynamic capacity for remodelling. Bone minerals (calcium phosphate crystals and hydroxyapatite) provide mechanical rigidity and load-bearing strength to bone, whereas the organic matrix provides elasticity and flexibility. It consists of 50-70% mineralized matrix, 20-40% organic matrix, 5-10% water and <3% lipids⁸⁰.

2.1.1.1. The Structure of Bone

At macroscopic level, the adult human skeleton is composed of approximately 80% cortical bone and 20% trabecular bone overall^{80,81}. Cortical bone is dense and solid and surrounds the marrow space⁸⁰. It is typically less metabolically active than trabecular bone^{80,81}. Trabecular bone is composed of a honeycomblike network of trabecular plates and rods interspersed in the bone marrow compartment⁸⁰. It is less dense, more elastic and has a smaller Young's Modulus and a higher turnover rate than cortical bone⁸².

At microscopic level, bone is consisted of two distinct types: woven bone and lamellar bone.

Woven bone has an irregular, disorganized pattern of collagen fibre orientation and osteocyte distribution. Rapid production of woven bone can be caused by mechanical stimulation. Woven bone is ultimately remodelled into dense, lamellar bone, indicating its responses to changes in functional activity^{83,84}.

Lamellar or mature bone is found in both cortical and trabecular bone. In cortical bone, the structural subunits, the lamellae, are arranged in osteons; whereas in trabeculae bone, the lamellae run parallel to it^{82,83}.

At ultrastructure level, three distinctly different cell types can be found within bone: the matrix-producing osteoblast, the tissue-resorbing osteoclast, and the $osteocyte^{83}$.

Osteoblasts are the cells that lay down the extracellular matrix and regulate its mineralization within the bone. They are cuboidal in shape and, together with their precursors, form a tight layer of cells at the bone surface⁸³. Mature active osteoblasts secrete type I collagen and other matrix proteins vectorially toward the bone formation surface⁸⁰. They also secrete cytokines, growth factors and bone morphogenetic proteins⁸⁵.

Some osteoblasts that become trapped in their own calcified matrix, change their phenotype and develop into osteocytes. Osteocytes are the principal cell in adult bone, and they can make and possibly also resorb bone⁸⁶.

Osteoclasts have ability to resorb fully mineralized bone at sites called Howship's lacunae⁸³. They bind to bone matrix *via* integrin receptors in the osteoclast membrane linking to bone matrix peptides. Binding of osteoclasts to bone matrix causes them to become polarized, with the bone resorbing surface developing a ruffled border which secretes hydrogen ions^{80,87}. Each osteoclast can resorb approximately $2x10^5 \,\mu\text{m}^3$ /day of bone tissue which is equivalent to the amount of bone produced by 7-10 osteoblasts.

2.1.1.2. Bone Biomechanics

2.1.1.2.1. Bone Formation - Osteogenesis

Bone formation is a process of osteoid formation by osteoblasts followed by hydroxyapatite precipitation⁸⁸. There are two types of ossification: endrochondral and intramembraneous ossification.

In endochondral ossification, a precursor hyaline cartilage firstly forms the general shape of bone⁸⁹. Mesenchymal cells migrate to the site of the future bone and differentiate into chondroblasts. Afterwards, the perichondrium turns into periosteum and cells in this region become osteoblasts. Osteoprogenitor cells from periosteum then migrate into the cavity with the blood vessels and cartilage model eventually is replaced by bone⁸⁹.

In intramembranous ossification, bone is formed by osteoblasts which are directly differentiated from mesenchymal cells⁸⁹. Mesenchymal cells migrate to the intended bone formation site and then differentiate into osteoblast which secrete matrix collagen and other components of bone matrix. Eventually, the bone matrix calcifies and osteoblasts become osteocytes⁸⁹.

2.1.1.2.2. Bone Resorption

Bone resorption occurs as a result of osteoclasts removing the extracellular matrix of bone. Osteoclasts bind to bone matrix via integrin receptors on the osteoclast membrane linking to bone matrix peptides⁸⁰. In active form, osteoclasts become polarized forming three distinct membrane domains: a ruffled border, a sealing zone and a functional secretory domain. Hydrochloric acid and proteases

(cathepsin K) are delivered to an area between the ruffled border and the bone surface called the resorption lacuna (Howship Lacunae) whereby crystalline hydroxyapatite is dissolved by acid, and the organic matrix is degraded by a mixture of proteases⁹⁰.

2.1.1.2.3. Bone Modelling and Remodelling

Bone has a great adaptability to changing metabolic and structural requirements via mechanisms of modelling and remodelling.

In bone modelling, the bones change their overall shape in response to physiologic influences or mechanical forces. In response to stimulating factors, independent action of osteoblasts and osteoclasts remove or add bone to the appropriate surfaces; hence, bone formation and resorption are not tightly coupled⁸⁰.

In bone remodelling, osteoclastic bone resorption are followed by osteoblastic bone formation. It occurs in 5 steps: (1) osteoclast activation, (2) removal of old bone by osteoclast, (3) osteoblast precursors deposit a cement line, (4) new bone deposition, and (5) osteoblasts become bone lining cells⁸⁵. These remodelling processes of deposition and removal of bone tissue accommodate the growth of a bone without losing its function or its relationship to neighbouring structures⁸⁵. This co-ordination between bone formation and resorption is controlled by the interaction and balance between receptor-activator of nuclear factor-Kappa ligand

(RANKL), receptor-activator of nuclear factor-Kappa (RANK), osteoprotegrin (OPG)⁸⁰.

2.1.2. Periodontal Ligament

Periodontal ligament is a specialized connective tissue situated between the root cementum and the bony socket wall⁷⁹. The principal function of the periodontal ligament is in supporting the tooth in its socket, acting as 'shock absorber' to the masticatory forces, as a sensory receptor for proprioception, and as a reservoir for tissue homeostasis, repair and regeneration⁷⁹.

Six different types of principal fibre bundles (composed of several individual collagen fibrils which are usually Type I, III and XII) are present in periodontal ligament: the alveolar crest group, the horizontal group, the oblique group, the apical group and the interradicular group⁹¹. Principal fibres are embedded into hard tissue on both alveolar bone lining and cementum side, called Sharpey fibres which are fully mineralized in primary cellular cementum and only partially mineralized at their periphery in cellular cementum and bone⁹¹.

Periodontal ligament is very well vascularised and innervated with the main blood supply from superior and inferior alveolar arteries and additional inter-alveolar vessels perforate the ligament horizontally. Nerve fibres in the PDL are orientated in the direction from apical region to gingival margin. The principal cells of the periodontal ligament are fibroblasts with numerous other cells including: epithelial cells, undifferantiated mesenchymal cells and bone and cementum cells. The fibroblasts are aligned through the direction of principal fibres, have an exceptionally high rate of protein turnover and also able to synthesize and degrade collagen⁹¹.

A major constituent of the PDL, the ground substance, is an amorphous background material that binds tissue and fluid, facilitates the diffusion of metabolic substances and acts as a stress breaker under loads⁹¹.

2.1.3. Cementum

Cementum plays a major role in OIIRR. It is a heterogeneous, mineralized and avascular connective tissue that covers the anatomic roots of the teeth, on to which principal collagen fibres, Sharpeys fibres, anchor to the root surface⁹¹. Cementum has other functions including: the maintenance of occlusal relationship (adaptation), repair of root defects after resorption or fracture, and protection of the pulp⁹².

Cementum has similar physical properties with bone; however, it is avascular, not innervated and exhibits little or no remodelling⁹³.

2.1.3.1. Composition of Cementum

Cementum is the least mineralized among the calcified dental tissues. It is composed of approximately 50% inorganic material (hydroxyapatite) and the remaining of collagen and non-collagenous proteins and water.

2.1.3.1.1. Organic Matrix

The main organic component of cementum is Type I collagen (~90%), and the proportion of Type III collagen is approximately 5%⁹⁴. The collagen plays an important structural and morphogenic role including scaffold for mineralisation.

The predominant non-collagenous proteins in cementum are bone sialoprotein and osteopontin. They participate in the mineralization process by binding tightly to collagenous matrices and hydroxyapatite⁹⁴. Other non-collagenous proteins include: alkaline phosphatase, dentin matrix protein1, dentin sialoprotein, proteoglycans, proteolipids, fibronectin, osteonectin, osteocalcin, tenascin, and several growth factors.⁹¹

2.1.3.1.2. Inorganic Matrix – Mineral Component

The mineral component of cementum consists of hydroxyapatite $(Ca_2(PO_4)_6(OH)_2)$ with small amounts of amorphous calcium phosphates. The crystallinity of the mineral component is lower and the size of crystals smaller in cementum than in the other hard tissues. As a result, cementum has a greater capacity for absorption of fluoride and other trace elements over time but also

21

more readily decalcifies in the presence of acidic conditions⁹⁴. Cementum contains up to 1% fluoride, 0.5-0.9% magnesium, 0.1-0.3% sulphur and trace amounts of zinc, copper, sodium^{94,95}. The mineral composition of cementum varies between subjects, within the same subject and between the different cementum types. In addition, a decreasing gradient in the concentrations of Ca, P, and F from the cervical to the apical third of the root has been reported⁹⁵.

2.1.3.2. Classification of Cementum

Different types of cementum have been identified, they vary in their location, function, structure, rate of formation, chemical composition and degree of mineralisation. It can be classified according to the time of its development before or after eruption (primary or secondary cementum), presence or absence of cementocytes in its structure (cellular or acellular cementum) and the origin of collagenous fibres of the matrix (intrinsic due to secretion by cementoclasts, or extrinsic referring to incorporation of periodontal ligment fibres)⁹⁶. Acellular cementum covers the root dentine from cementoenamel junction to apex but it is often missing in the apical third of the root; whilst cellular cementum is located mainly at the apical third portion of the tooth in humans⁹⁶.

Three fundamentally different human cementum which can vary from tooth to tooth or from region to region on the same tooth are described⁹⁴: Acellular Afibrillar Cementum, Acellular Extrinsic Fibre Cementum, and Cellular Intrinsic Fibre Cementum.

2.1.3.2.1. Acellular Afibrillar Cementum

Acellular afibrillar cementum is deposited as isolated patches over minor areas of enamel and dentin at or just above the CEJ. It appears similar to the matrix of acellular extrinsic fibre cementum (see below), but contains neither collagen fibrils nor embedded cells, and therefore indicative of its lack of function in tooth attachment⁹⁴.

2.1.3.2.2. Acellular Extrinsic Fibre Cementum

The acellular extrinsic fibre cementum is usually confined to the cervical and middle thirds of the tooth. It can extend towards the apex on the anterior teeth. Its formation commences therefore shortly after crown formation is completed and always before cellular intrinsic fibre cementum starts to form on more apical root portions⁹⁴.

This cementum matrix has high density of collagenous fibres which are continuous with the matrix of the dentine. The extraordinarily high numerical density of fibres (Sharpey's fibres) inserting into acellular extrinsic fibre cementum (approximately 30,000/mm²) is a reflection of the significant function of this cementum type for tooth anchorage to the surrounding bone^{94,97}. The calcification of this cementum is approximately 45-60% with less mineralized innermost layer and the outer layers characterized by alternating bands that run parallel to the root surface⁹¹.

2.1.3.2.3. Cellular Intrinsic Fibre Cementum

Cellular intrinsic fibre cementum is distributed along the apical third or half of the root and in furcation areas where no acellular extrinsic fibre cementum has been deposited on dentine⁷⁹. This type of cementum tends to be the type formed when repair of root resorption occurs due to its capacity to grow much faster than any other known cementum type⁹⁴. This cementum type is less mineralized than acellular extrinsic fibre cementum due to its heterogeneous collagen organization, its rapid speed of formation, and the presence of cells and lacunae⁷⁹.

2.1.3.3. Development of Cementum

Root formation is guided by the formation of Hertwig's epithelial root sheath (HERS), which is a collar of epithelial cells resulting from the apical elongation of the enamel organ⁹¹. There are two different theories regarding initiation of cementum formation. Firstly, infiltrating dental follicle cells differentiate into cementoblasts after receiving a reciprocal inductive signal from dentin surrounding HERS. Secondly, HERS cells transform into cementoblasts. In both theories, the fragmented cells of the HERS form a discrete mass called epithelial cell rests of Malassez⁹¹. The disintegration of cervical HERS prior to cementogenesis to allow for the perforation and gradual penetration of HERS by mesenchymal cells constitutes a key point for the cementogenesis⁹⁸.

2.1.3.4. Distribution of Cementum

The thickness of cementum is approximately 50 μ m in the cervical margin and around 200 μ m at the apex⁹¹. Acellular afibrillar cementum is limited to the cervical enamel region. From cervical margin extending at least two thirds of the root is acellular extrinsic fibre cementum. At the apical third and interradicular regions cellular cementum is located. In addition, a linear relationship exists between the thickness of the cementum and age, with the average thickness of cementum increasing from 0.1 to 0.2mm from the age of 20 to 55⁹⁹.

2.2. Tooth Movement

Orthodontic tooth movement can be defined as the result of a biological response to interference in the physiological equilibrium in the dentofacial complex by an externally applied force¹⁰⁰. It is a process that involves both pathologic and physiologic responses to externally applied forces¹⁰¹. When prolonged pressure is applied to a tooth, the bone around the tooth and even sutures distant from the tooth remodels resulting in selective resorption and apposition of bone¹⁰⁰.

2.2.1. Theories of Tooth Movement

Two main theories for tooth movement have been proposed: the application of pressure and tension to PDL and the bending of the alveolar bone.

2.2.1.1. The Pressure-Tension Theory

Histological studies on tooth movement by Sandstedt¹⁰², Oppenheim¹⁰³ and Schwarz¹⁰⁴ postulated that tooth moves in the periodontal space by generating a "pressure side" and a "tension side". On the pressure side, vascular constriction results in reduced cell replication and the PDL displays disorganisation and

diminution of fibre production. On the tension side, stretching of the PDL fibre bundles results in increased cell replication and enhanced proliferative activity which leads to increased PDL fibre production¹⁰⁵.

Sandstedt was first to describe direct and indirect resorption¹⁰². With light forces the bone was resorbed directly by multinucleate osteoclasts in Howships lacunae (direct/frontal resorption). With heavy forces, there was capillary thrombosis, cell death and cell free zones (hyalinisation), whereby osteoclastic resorption of the wall occurs from neighbouring adjacent alveolar marrow spaces (indirect/undermining resorption). The removal of this hyalinised necrotic tissue starts when cellular elements such as macrophages, foreign body giant cells and osteoclasts from the adjacent undamaged areas invade the necrotic tissue. These cells resorb the underside of bone immediately adjacent to the necrotic PDL area and remove it together with necrotic tissue. This was described histologically by Reitan¹⁰⁶.

Schwarz¹⁰⁴ proposed that orthodontic force should not exceed the capillary bed blood pressure (20-25 g/cm² of root surface). If the pressure exceed this, compression would cause tissue necrosis through "suffocation of the strangulated periodontium"¹⁰⁴.

It was suggested that inflammation is at least partly responsible for cellular recruitment and tissue remodelling in the areas of force application. Bone remodelling in the periodontium consists of loss of bone mass at PDL pressure areas and apposition at tension areas^{105,107}.

27

2.2.1.2. The Bone Bending - Bioelectric Theory

Farrar¹⁰⁸ was the first to suggest that alveolar bone bending plays a major role in orthodontic tooth movement. This theory was supported by Baumrind¹⁰⁹ in rats which demonstrated the crown of the tooth was displaced on average 10 times more than the width of the PDL on the pressure side. It was also supported by human study by Grimm which showed interseptal bone deformations adjacent to tooth extraction sites¹¹⁰. According to this theory, when orthodontic forces are delivered to the tooth, they are transmitted to all tissues near force application, and these forces bend bone, tooth and solid structures of the PDL. Following bone bending, active biologic process involving bone turnover and renewal of cellular and inorganic fractions are accelerated while the bone is held in the deformed position¹⁰⁵.

However, bone bending theory contradicts the current orthopaedic dogma, which states that "any mechanical compression stimulates bone formation and tension stimulates bone resorption"¹¹¹. This confusion was clarified by Epker and Frost by describing the change in shape of the alveolar bone circumference resulting from stretching PDL fibres¹¹². The fibre stretching decreases the radius of the alveolar wall, that is, bending bone in the tension zone where bone apposition takes place. This is called the regional acceleratory phenomenon.

It has been proposed by Davidovitch et al.^{113,114} that a physical relationship exists between mechanical and electrical perturbation of bone. They found electric currents enhanced cellular enzyme phosphorylation in PD tissues. Bone bending causes two types of stress-generated electrical effects (piezoelectricity and streaming potentials) which might function as pivotal cellular first messengers. Piezoelectricity is a phenomenon observed in many crystalline materials, in which a deformation of crystal structure produces a flow of electric current as electrons are displaced from one part of the lattice to another. However, two properties of piezoelectricity which do not correlate well with OTM: it has a quick decay rate (electric current is quickly produced and diminished even though the force is maintained) and it produces equivalent signal in the opposite direction upon force removal. The stress-generated potentials (streaming potentials) are small voltages produced when the ions in bone interact with the electric field when bone bends, producing temperature changes, i.e. a convection current. These potentials might affect the charge of cell membranes and macromolecules in the neighbourhood. Borgens¹¹⁵ observed the generation of endogenous ionic currents evoked in intact and damaged mouse bones and suggested that the mechanically stressed bone cells themselves, not the matrix, are the source of the electric current.

Based on the above theory of OTM, Mostafa¹⁰⁷ et al proposed an integrated hypothetical model for tooth movement. This model consists of two pathways that work concurrently to induce tooth movement. Pathway I represents the more physiologic response as it is associated with normal bone growth and remodelling.

Whereas pathway II represents the generation of a local inflammatory response by orthodontic forces.

2.2.2. Phases of Tooth movement

Traditionally, tooth movement following application of orthodontic forces is divided into 3 phases by time as suggested by Burstone¹¹⁶ (initial phase, lag phase and post lag phase) and Roberts¹¹⁷ (initial strain, lag phase, and progressive tooth movement). The initial strain occurs in the first week as a result of PDL displacement (strain), bone strain and extrusion. This is followed by a lag phase which is characterized by low rate of tooth movement due to the hyalinization in compressed areas of the PDL. This phase coincides with the time it takes for cells within the marrow to differentiate and for the bone adjacent to the hyalinized tissue to be eliminated by undermining resorption. After completion of necrotic tissues removal, the progressive tooth movement phase starts. In this phase, the PDL is considerably widened and the osteoclasts is able to attack the bone surface over a much wider area. Provided the force is maintained light, bone resorption is predominantly of the direct type. This phase is characterized by gradual or sudden increases in tooth movement.

Recent studies^{118,119} have suggested that tooth movement occurs in 4 phases. Phase 1 is the initial tooth movement due to the compression of the PDL. Phase 2 is characterized by the arrest of tooth movement as a result of hyalinization in the periodontal ligament. During phase 3, an accelerated continuous tooth movement occurs and continues until the biologic limit is reached. In Phase 4, tooth movement appears to be constant.

The biologic limit shows a great individual variability due to metabolic and genetic differences. Therefore, the duration of each phase and the maximum speed of tooth movement varies among the individuals.

2.2.3. Factors Affecting Tooth Movement

The purpose of orthodontic treatment is to move teeth as efficiently as possible with minimal adverse effects for the teeth and supporting tissue. Many factors affect the process of orthodontic tooth movement.

2.2.3.1. Force Magnitude

The relationship between force magnitude delivered by orthodontic appliances and the rate of orthodontic tooth movement remains controversial, as some proponents believe that different force levels produce the same amount and rate of tooth movement. Quinn and Yoshikawa¹²⁰ proposed 4 hypothesis to explain the relationship between stress magnitude and the rate of tooth movement. (Figure 1)



Figure 1. 4 Different tooth movement models suggested by Quinn and Yoshikawa¹²⁰

Hypothesis 1 shows constant rate between force magnitude and the rate of tooth movement. According to this hypothesis there is a force threshold for tooth movement. Above this threshold, tooth movement will lead to the same rate of tooth movement. Owman-Moll¹²¹ found that there was no significant difference when the force magnitude was doubled from 50cN to 100 cN. Iwasaki et al.¹²² also found that when low magnitude continuous forces were applied on a tooth, the tooth movement does not show the lag phase.

Hypothesis 2 shows a linear increase in the rate of tooth movement above a force threshold. This hypothesis supports that higher forces are efficient in tooth movement. Hixon et al.¹²³ found a plateau at 300gm, which suggests this hypothesis may not be valid.

Hypothesis 3 was first proposed by Storey and Smith¹²⁴. It shows increasing stress causes the rate of tooth movement to increase to a maximum. Once this optimal level is reached additional increase in force magnitude causes the rate of tooth movement to decline¹²⁰. This hypothesis supports Begg's differential force concept¹²⁵ with high forces used as anchorage and low forces for space closure. These phenomena might be related to the induction of hyalinization in the periodontal ligament.

Hypothesis 4 shows the relationship between the rate of tooth movement and force magnitude is linear up to a point; after that, an increase in stress causes no appreciable increase in tooth movement. Boester and Johnston¹²⁶ also provided evidence that beyond certain level of stress, the rate of tooth movement no longer alters.

Von Bohl¹²⁷ stated that present models that describe the relationships between force magnitude and rate of tooth movement probably are not valid due to the many factors involved in tooth movement that are yet to be further investigated. For example, focal hyalinization probably does not directly depend on the applied force but on local stresses or strains that are individually and locally determined due to irregularities in periodontal and bone morphology¹²⁷. Ren et al.¹²⁸ concluded that no threshold can be defined for the force or, more accurately, the increase in pressure that will switch on tooth movement, nor can an optimal force or force range be calculated that produces maximum tooth movement.

Proffit¹⁰⁰ recommended the optimum orthodontic force magnitudes for specific type of tooth movement in Figure 2.

Type of movement	Force* (gm)
Tipping	35-60
Bodily movement (translation)	70-120
Root uprighting	50-100
Rotation	35-60
Extrusion	35-60
Intrusion	10-20

*Values depend in part on the size of the tooth; smaller values appropriate for incisors, higher values for multirooted posterior teeth.

Figure 2. Optimum forces for orthodontic tooth movement by Proffit¹⁰⁰

2.2.3.2. Types of Tooth Movement

In tipping movement, a fulcrum is created and the root moves toward the opposite site of the force. Tipping of a tooth with light forces produces greatest tooth movement than any other type of tooth movement. It causes a compression in limited areas of the PDL with maximum pressure created under the alveolar crest and at the root apex (Figure 3). Fulcrum and areas around the fulcrum are the least loaded. Therefore the orthodontic forces should be kept low for tipping movement¹²⁹.



Figure 3. Diagrammatic representation of areas under compression or tension in buccal tipping⁵⁷

Torquing movement involves tipping movement of the root apex. The first compression zone occurs in the middle third of the root. After removal of this compression areas by resorption, second compression area occurs at the apical surface of the root¹²⁹.

Bodily movement is created by force couples which act in parallel lines and spread the force evenly over the alveolar bone. The forces used in this type of movement cannot exceed a certain level¹²⁹.

Rotation forces are distributed within entire PDL; therefore, larger forces can be applied than any other movements¹²⁹.
During extrusion, no compression zones are created within the PDL but tension¹²⁹.

During intrusion, force is usually localized in a small area at the root apex in intrusion, so force magnitude should be carefully selected¹²⁹.

2.2.3.3. Force Duration

Orthodontic tooth movement can only be created by sustained force application for a certain period of time. A least 4 hours is required to induce the cytokine effect. Increasingly effective tooth movement is produced if force is maintained for longer durations. There is a decline in force magnitude as tooth moves in response to that force. From this perspective orthodontic force duration is classified by the rate of decay as follows¹⁰⁰:

<u>Continuous force</u>: Force maintained at some appreciable fraction of the original between the appointments¹⁰⁰. Examples include Ni-Ti coil spring¹³⁰ and drum spring¹³¹.

<u>Interrupted force</u>: Force levels decline to zero between activations. Examples include archwire, power chain and power thread¹⁰⁰.

<u>Intermittent force</u>: Force levels decline abruptly to zero intermittently, when a removable appliance is removed by the patient. Examples include removable appliances, head gear and elastics¹⁰⁰.

2.2.3.4. Growth and Age

The bone of children has a higher rate of remodelling than adults. The rate of orthodontic tooth movement in growing children is approximately twice that of adults¹²⁹. A maximum rate of 2 mm per month for maxillary molar translation is possible with space closure mechanics or headgear in growing child, versus 1 mm per month in adults. Similarly, mesial translation of mandibular molars is approximately 0.7 mm per month in growing children versus 0.34 mm in adults¹²⁹.

In rats, Misawa et al.¹³² found that the amount of tooth movement decreased with age. They suggested that the age-dependent decrease in alveolar bone turnover activity, in response to mechanical forces, may negatively affect the amount of tooth movement¹³². However, Ren et al.¹³³ showed in an animal study that although there was a faster initial tooth movement in juvenile than in adult rats, when tooth movement had reached the linear phase, the rate of tooth movement was the same in both groups.

2.2.3.5. Periodontal Health

After force application, immediate tooth movement occurs due to displacement within PDL, bone strain and extrusion. In healthy periodontium this rate is approximately 0.5 mm (0.3 mm periodontal displacement and 0.2 mm bone strain and extrusion). However, in unhealthy periodontium with alveolar bone loss, this movement can exceed over a millimetre. In periodontal disease, bone formation is suppressed and bone resorption is even enhanced; thus the tooth movement remodelling process results in rapid loss of supporting bone¹²⁹.

2.2.3.6. Bone Density

The rate of orthodontic tooth movement is inversely related to bone density. The density of alveolar bone in maxilla is less than the mandible because it has a higher ratio of cancellous to cortical bone. Cancellous bone has more surface area available for resorption and more osteoclasts present to remove the osseous tissue impeding tooth movement¹²⁹.

2.2.3.7. Metabolic Bone Disease

Orthodontics is usually contraindicated in patients with active metabolic bone disease, such as osteoporosis, due to excessive resorption and poor bone formation¹³⁴. The risk factors for developing osteoporosis include age, long term

glucocorticoid treatment, slight stature, smoking, menopause, low physical activity, low calcium diet, excessive alcohol consumption, vitamin D deficiency, kidney and liver failure and history of fractures.

2.2.3.8. Hormonal Influence

Hormones that have a major impact on orthodontic tooth movement include: sex hormones, relaxin, thyroid hormones, parathyroid hormone and Vitamin D^{135} .

Estrogen inhibits cytokine production and bone resorption and is the most important hormone related to bone metabolism in women¹³⁶. Women taking oral contraceptives or taking estrogen supplement for menopause might experience slow tooth movement due to a reduced rate of bone metabolism¹³⁷.

Relaxin has been suggested as an adjunct to orthodontic therapy during or after orthodontic treatment for the promotion of stability by reducing the stretched soft tissue and rapid remodelling of gingival tissue¹³⁵.

Thyroxin increases bone remodelling and resorptive activity and reduces bone density. This is due to induced interleukin-1 production which appears to stimulate osteoclastic activity¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰. Therefore, patients taking thyroxin should have increased orthodontic tooth movement.

Parathyroid hormone (PTH) affects osteoclastic activity through the production of RANKL. It has been shown that PTH increases the rate of orthodontic tooth movement when applied either locally or systemically^{141,142}.

Vitamin D is synthesized in the skin irradiated by UV light and hydroxylated in liver and kidney to become 1,25 dehydroxycholecalciferol (DHCC)¹²⁹. Intraligamentous injection of 1,25 DHCC demonstrated increases in the number of osteoclasts and the amount of tooth movement in cats¹⁴³.

2.2.3.9. Pharmacological Agents

The main categories of pharmacological agents that can influence orthodontic tooth movement include: eicosanoids, non steroidal anti inflammatory drugs, corticosteroids, calcium and calcium regulators and fluoride.

Eicosanoids are involved in several regulatory and pathologic processes including inflammatory and immune responses, vasodilation and vasoconstriction¹⁴⁴. They are divided into four different families leukotrienes, thromboxanes, prostacyclins, and prostaglandins.

Leukotrienes play an important role in inflammation, allergies, and diseases such as asthma. Mohammed et al.¹⁴⁵ demonstrated the inhibitory effect of leukotriens on orthodontic tooth movement.

Prostaglandins play a major role in inflammation¹⁴⁴. Local injection of PGE 1 and PGE2 has been shown to increase the rate of tooth movement in monkeys^{146,147}. PGE2 was shown to have a dose dependent effect in rats¹⁴⁸ and that the reduced rate of PGE2 synthesis also decreased the rate of tooth movement in rats¹⁴⁹.

NSAIDS including aspirin, diclofenac, ibuprofen and indomethacin were shown to reduce orthodontic tooth movement. Yamasaki et al.¹⁵⁰ found that indomethacin which is a non steroidal COX 1 and COX 2 inhibitor reduced bone resorption and OTM in rats. However, Celecoxib was found to have no influence on orthodontic tooth movement.

Corticosteroids are used for many inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. In rats, corticosteroids reduced the rate of bone turnover in short term; however, in long term it increased rate of tooth movement¹⁵¹.

Bisphosphonates inhibit osteoclastic activity and are used for the treatment of several metabolic bone diseases. In rats, local application of clodronate (a bisphosphonate) without the nitrogen atom reduces the amount of OTM and the number of osteoclasts¹⁵².

The effect of fluoride on orthodontic tooth movement was investigated in animal studies. Fluoride reduced rate of orthodontic tooth movement and reduced osteoclasts on the pressure side of the PDL in rats¹⁵³. Gonzales et al¹⁵⁴ found that, when administered from birth, fluoride reduced the amount of tooth movement

and the duration of fluoride administration affected the amount of tooth movement in a time-dependent manner, i.e. the longer the fluoride was administered the smaller the amount of tooth movement.

2.2.3.10. Dietary Factors

The composition of diet may have important effects on tooth movement. A favourable diet is directly related to maintaining the calcium metabolism. In animal study on beagle dogs, a low calcium diet caused a state of hyperparathyroidism which lead to increased rate of bone turnover and tooth movement and reduced bone density with significant reduction of trabecular bone¹⁵⁵.

2.2.3.11. Electromagnetic Influences

The cellular reactions after application of orthodontic force maybe enhanced by an electromagnetic field of either static or pulsed types¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸. The application of a non-invasive, pulsed electromagnetic field increased the rate of orthodontic tooth movement and bone deposition in guinea pigs¹⁵⁸. Also, greater amounts of bone and matrix were deposited in the tension area between orthodontically moved maxillary incisors as well as significantly greater numbers of osteoclasts in the surrounding alveolar bone¹⁵⁸. Darendeliler et al.¹⁵⁹ investigated the effect of electromagnetic fields in combination with the use of coil spring. Their results showed that both the static magnetic field produced by the samarium-cobalt magnets and the pulsed electromagnetic field used in combination with the coil spring were successful in increasing the rate of tooth movement over that produced by the coil springs alone. The mechanism appears to involve a reduction in the lag phase¹⁵⁹.

2.3. Root Resorption

2.3.1. Definition of Root Resorption

Root resorption is a physiological or pathological process that involves the active removal of dentine and mineralized and non-mineralized cementum¹⁶⁰. Physiological root resorption occurs during the exfoliation of the deciduous dentition. Pathological root resorption can be either internal or external in origin. In internal root resorption, the process is originated from the cells in the pulp and affects the internal wall of dentin and pulp. Whereas external root resorption is initiated from periodontium and affects the external and lateral surfaces of the root.

2.3.2. Classification of Root Resorption

There are many different types of pathological RR and it has been classified by several authors^{161,162}.

Andreasen¹⁶¹ classified external root resorption into three types:

 <u>Surface resorption</u> which involves small surface areas of resorption and repair with new cementum by cells from the adjacent intact periodontal ligament. It is not usually detected radiographically. 2. <u>Inflammatory resorption</u> where the resorption has reached the dentinal structures of the necrotic pulpal tissues or an infected leukocytic zone. It is characterized by large resorption bays with inflammation and active root resorption.

This type of resorption was further classified by Tronstrad¹⁶³ into

a. *Transient inflammatory resorption* which occurs when root damage is minimal and the stimulus for the resorptive process is of short duration. It is usually repaired by cementum-like tissue, and is generally not detectable radiographically.

b. *Progressive inflammatory resorption* occurs when the resorptive stimulus is of a longer duration and is detectable radiographically. The aetiology for this type of root resorption could be mechanical stimulation, pressure or infection. Depending on the site of microbial stimulation and resorption, it can be internal resorption or cervical resorption.

3. <u>Replacement resorption</u> where bone replaces the resorbed root structure and eventually leads to ankylosis.

Brezniak and Wasserstein¹⁶⁴ classified OIIRR according to its severity, based on the depth of the crater:

- <u>Cemental or surface resorption with remodelling</u>: resorption involves only outer layer of cementum which will be fully regenerated or remodelled. This process has been compared to trabecular bone remodelling.
- <u>Dentinal resorption with repair (deep resorption)</u>: resorption process reaching cementum and outer layers of dentin and usually repaired with cementum material. The repaired contour of the root may or may not be distinguishable to the previous form.
- <u>Circumferential apical root resorption</u>: all hard tissue components of apex are resorbed and root shortening results. Different degrees of root shortening are evident. When root structure is lost into dentine, no regeneration is possible.

2.3.3. Orthodontically Induced Inflammatory Root Resorption (OIIRR)

Root 'adsorption' in permanent teeth was first described by Bates¹⁶⁵ in 1856. In 1932 Becks and Marshal¹⁶⁶ stated that the term "resorption" is terminologically more appropriate. Ottolengui¹⁶⁷ was the first person to report apical root resorption related to orthodontic treatment. Later, Ketcham^{168,169} showed this phenomenon in radiographs. Since then RR has been recognized as the side effect of orthodontic treatment and substantial amount of research has investigated the process of RR.

Orthodontic force application causes a biological process that shows five signs of inflammation which are redness, heat, swelling, pain and loss of function. Therefore, Brezniak and Wasserstein¹⁶⁴ proposed that orthodontic force induced root resorption should be termed "Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption" (OIIRR). OIIRR is an unavoidable pathologic consequence of orthodontic treatment. After the application of orthodontic force on a tooth, compression and tension zones in PDL are created. Root resorption occurs during the remodelling of the PDL to remove this hyalinised necrotic tissue in overcompressed regions¹⁶⁰.

2.3.3.1. Incidence of OIIRR

Many of the previous studies that examined the incidence of OIIRR utilised plain radiographs to identify the amount of root structure lost. Issues with radiographs include lack of standardisation and that it is a 2D technique which has limitations in assessing a 3D structure, i.e. resorption craters on buccal or lingual surfaces of root would not be visible on radiograph. Histological method has the limitation of information lost in between the thin sections examined.

Root resorption has been reported in both orthodontically treated and untreated individuals. Among untreated population, the prevalence ranges between 0-100%. Using radiographs, Ketcham¹⁶⁸ identified 1% of non-orthodontically treated patients showing signs of RR. Whereas, radiographic study by Massler et al.¹⁹ found that 100% of the sample exhibited some evidence of periapical

resorption in one or more permanent teeth. Histological study by Henry and Weinmann¹⁷⁰ on permanent human teeth from 261 orthodontically untreated people, reported 90% of untreated population exhibit root resorption. Most resorption occurred at the root apex, and there is an increase in resorption with increasing age¹⁷⁰. Vlaskalic suggested that certain amount of root resorption is a normal physiological process and may occur during continuous hard tissue remodelling and turnover and transmission of occlusal forces through the dentition to the alveolar bone^{50,171}.

In orthodontically treated population, Lupi et al.¹⁷² showed that the increased incidence of root resorption in adults from 15% before treatment to 73% after treatment. Moreover, moderate to severe apical root resorption in incisors increased from 2% before treatment to 24.5% after treatment. They also noted that the alveolar bone loss more than 1.5mm occurred in 11% of the incisors and 3% of the posterior teeth. Levander and Malmgren³⁰ reported severe root resorption increased from 1% before treatment to 17% after treatment and also 1% experienced an extreme resorption after 6-9 months of orthodontic treatment. Sameshima and Sinclair¹⁷³ examined pre and post-treatment periapical radiographs collected from 868 patients. They found less than 3% of the total patients (25 patients) had more than 20% root resorption on all four maxillary incisors. Linge and Linge²⁴ investigated the radiographs of 485 patients between 11.5 and 25 years of age and found that 16.5% of orthodontically treated patients had root shortening of more than 2.5 mm in one or more incisors.

The range and variety of the study findings is partly attributed to the limitation of 2D radiograph in assessing 3D RR, the variations in sample groups and sizes. These studies cannot be directly compared; however, they showed a general trend of most teeth exhibit some degree of RR without orthodontic treatment, and the RR increases with treatment.

2.3.3.2. Diagnosis of OIIRR

Radiographs are most commonly used to clinically diagnose OIIRR. Dental panoramic tomography (OPG) provides an overall view of the dentition with lower radiation dose than a full-mouth series of intra-oral radiographs¹⁷⁴. Radiography is one of the 2D techniques used in assessing RR; other 2D methods include light microscopy and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). All these methods reflect a three dimensional object into a two dimensional image. Even though quantitative analysis can be performed using 2D methods, these images do not represent the actual morphology of the object.

Radiographic technique was shown to not able to detect medium to large size resorption cavities on the buccal and lingual surfaces of the root¹⁷⁵. In addition, root resorption lacunae that reached half way to the pulp or more might not be detected by radiographs. Harris and colleagues¹⁷⁶ indicated that magnification errors in radiographs might lead to underestimation or overestimation of the amount of root resorption. Also, Sameshima and Asgarifar¹⁷⁷ reported that the use of panoramic films to measure pre- and posttreatment root resorption may

overestimate the amount of root loss by 20% or more compared to periapical radiograph.

Light microscopy can be used in detection of craters; however, it cannot provide accurate quantitative analysis of resorption craters. Owman-Moll^{121,178,179} introduced the method of histological sectioning combined with light microscopy; however, there was difficulty in detecting some small to medium sized craters especially in middle and apical third of the root.

SEM is used for both 2D and 3D evaluation of root resorption. In 2D, it can provide high resolution enhanced visual assessment of root resorption craters on the root surface.

3D evaluation methods of root resorption includes stereo-imaging-scanning, electron microscopy and computed tomography. SEM with stereo imaging can explore the third dimension of the resorption craters and has very high reproducibility and accuracy rates¹⁸⁰.

Currently, the best method to diagnose and quantify root resorption is computed tomography which has significant advantage over conventional radiography¹⁸¹. However, due to the high radiation exposure to patients, it is not routinely used clinically. Employing micro-CT on extracted teeth, RR can be assessed quantitatively and qualitatively with high sensitivity and accuracy.

2.3.3.3. Mechanisms of Root resorption

Following application of orthodontic force, the PDL becomes compressed, leading to areas of local inflammation and aseptic necrosis. This necrotic hyalinised zone is the key event that starts the chain reaction leading to root resorption. Elimination of this hyalinised tissue is carried out by an invasion of cells and blood vessels from adjacent undamaged periodontium. This results in alveolar bone resorption, allowing tooth movement to occur, but also leads to removal of cementum. The cellular mechanism involved in the resorption process is thoroughly investigated by Brudvik and Rygh^{160,182-184}.

This process continues until the hyalinised tissue is removed and the PDL is reestablished. The duration of this process is dependent on the force magnitude and also force duration. Rygh claimed that elimination of the hyalinised tissue was completed after 20-25 days¹⁸⁵. However, other studies indicate the resorptive process to continue up to a year¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁸⁸.

The first cells that appear at the perimeter of hyalinised tissue are Tartrate-Resistant Acid Phosphatase (TRAP) negative cells¹⁸². These mononuclear TRAP negative cells remove the necrotic tissue at the periphery of the hyalinised zone, as well as the surface layers of unmineralised cementum and mineralised acellular cementum by phagocytic and collagenolytic activity¹⁸³. The second stage involves mono- and multinucleated TRAP positive cells removing central part of the of the hyalinised zone, and continued resorption of the damaged and undamaged mineralised cementum¹⁸⁴. Brudvik and Rygh also noted that the state of unmineralized cementum and its relationship with PDL is of importance for the development of OIIRR¹⁸³. The normal cementum, PDL and cells covering the root surface contain a potent collagenase inhibitor which protects the root surface against resorption and if clastic cells breach this barrier and gain access to the root surface, resorption occurs¹⁸⁹. The cementoblast layer might become damaged during the process of hyalinized zone removal; therefore, exposing the highly mineralized underlying tissue to resorptive cells¹⁶³. It is also possible that orthodontic force application and overcompression can damage the surface layers of cementum¹⁶⁴.

After orthodontic force application, it takes 10-35 days for a resorption lacuna to appear, although they are usually too small to be detected radiographically^{42,64,190}. After force application is ceased, root resorption by TRAP positive cells continued until the total elimination of existing hyalinized necrotic tissue is completed^{189,191,192}.

Recent studies have shown that osteoprotegerin (OPG), receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B (RANK) and RANK ligand (RANKL) proteins are involved in the molecular processes of both physiological and orthodontic root resorption¹⁹³. RANK is activated by binding either soluble or membrane-bound RANKL. RANK activation results in osteoclastic differentiation and activation and this interaction is blocked by OPG^{194,195}. During orthodontic tooth movement on the compressed side of the PDL, RANKL expression is induced while on the tensile side an increased OPG synthesis was found¹⁹³. The ratio between RANKL

and OPG is believed to be involved in the root resorption process during orthodontic tooth movement. It has been shown that a great increase of RANKL and a decrease of OPG occurs in cases of severe root resorption^{193,196-198}.

2.3.3.4. Aetiology

The aetiology of OIIRR is multifactorial. Risk factors can be broadly classified under three groups: biological and environmental factors, dental factors, and mechanical factors. Despite extensive research, controversy still exists in the literature on most of these risk factors.

2.3.3.4.1. Biological and Environmental Factors

These factors are directly related to the patient, and may or may not be influenced by the patient and maybe either genetic or environmental in origin.

2.3.3.4.1.1. Genetics, Ethnicity and Individual susceptibility

Root resorption can occur in some individuals without orthodontic treatment, this illustrates the variation in susceptibility to root resorption. Individual susceptibility is considered one of the major factors determining root resorption potential not only for orthodontic root resorption but also for physiological root resorption. Rygh¹⁸⁵ noted that the root resorption process seems to vary between different individuals and also between different times within the same person.

Moreover, individual hormonal disturbances, systemic disease and cellular metabolism may change the individual response to disease and trauma¹⁸⁵. In fact, individual reactions and metabolic response was suggested to have more impact on RR than the increase in the magnitude of force application or the length of treatment.^{121,179}.

Harris et al.⁴ investigated genetic influence on susceptibility for root resorption and found 70% heritability in RR. It was also suggested that siblings experience similar levels of root resorption. Ngan et al.⁶ investigated the genetic contribution of root resorption between mono and dizygotic twins and their results indicate a genetic component of root resorption. Al-Qawasmi et al. found a 5.6 fold increased risk of >2mm RR in individuals homozygous for the IL-1 β allele 1⁵.

Abass et al.¹⁹⁹ indicated that genetic factors account for approximately 64% of the external apical root resorption variation in humans. He also showed a traceable and polygenetic component affecting EARR in mice.

Using inbred mice, Al-Qawasmi et al.²⁰⁰ studied the genetic susceptibility to RR and found certain genetic strains are highly susceptible, whereas other strains are more resistant to RR.

The effect of ethnical background on root resorption was investigated by Sameshima and Sinclair⁷ on a sample of 868 patients from six different practices and found that Asian patients experienced significantly less root resorption than Caucasians or Hispanic patients. However, they later reinstated that their sample was disproportionate and may have resulted in biased outcomes¹⁷³. Similarly

Smale et al.;²⁰¹ in a multicenter study of 290 patients, did not detect any racial differences.

2.3.3.4.1.2. Endocrine Imbalance

The metabolism of mineralized tissues is mainly regulated by three hormones; 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol, Parathyroid hormone (PTH) and Calcitonin. An imbalance of these hormones have been found to influence RR.

- 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol is derived from hydroxylation of vitamin D by in the liver and kidneys. Its primary function is to increase the calcium resorption from the kidney.
- PTH is secreted by parathyroid gland and its main function is to induce calcium release from bone and increasing renal calcium reabsorption and phosphate excretion from kidneys.
- •Calcitonin is secreted by the thyroid gland. It inhibits osteoclastic activity and bone resorption.

In addition to these hormones, parathyroid related protein (PTHrP), phosphateregulating hormone, glucocorticoids, growth hormone, oestrogens and various growth factors are also involved in bone metabolism.

Therefore, altered endocrine imbalance conditions such as hyperparathyroidism⁹, Paget disease¹⁰, hypophosphataemia¹¹, hypothyroidism, hypopituitarism and hyperpituitarism²⁰² are linked to altered rate of tooth movement and the amount of root resorption.

2.3.3.4.1.3. Nutrition

Root resorption has been demonstrated in animals deprived of dietary calcium and Vitamin D^8 . Engstrom and co-workers⁸ reported that the severity of root resorption was related to alveolar bone resorption. Their experiment on rats showed that a calcium and vitamin D deficient diet induced hypocalcemia, increased alkaline phosphatase activity and PTH and increased number of osteoclasts in the PDL. It produced greater and more rapid bone resorption and more severe RR.

However, other authors proposed that nutritional imbalance is not a major factor in root resorption during orthodontic treatment^{9,12}. Goldie and King⁹ compared lactating rats deprived of dietary calcium and phosphorous with control group of normal diet. The diet deficient group showed greater amount of tooth movement and bone loss; however, there was a reduction in the size of the root resorption craters.

2.3.3.4.1.4. Asthma and allergy

Davidovitch et al.¹⁴ found the incidence of asthma, allergies and signs of psychological stress were significantly higher in patients who had experienced excessive root resorption. Similarly, Nishioka et al.¹⁵ reported that the incidence of allergy, asthma and root morphology abnormality significantly higher in patients with excessive root resorption.

In assessing risk factors associated with orthodontic root resorption (i.e. root morphology, gingivitis, allergy, nail-biting, medication, etc.), Owman-Moll and Kurol²⁰³ found that only those subjects with allergies showed an increased risk of root resorption¹⁴.

Increased incidence of RR was reported in chronic asthmatics¹³. It was postulated that the inflammatory mediators produced in asthma, may enter the periodontal ligament and act synergistically to enhance root resorption and may explain the resorption seen in roots near the inflamed maxillary sinus¹³. McNab et al.¹³ showed that asthmatics had significantly more external apical root resorption of posterior teeth after treatment compared with the healthy group. They also added that although the incidence of external apical root resorption was elevated in the asthma group, both asthmatics and healthy patients exhibited similar amounts of moderate and severe resorption.

2.3.3.4.1.5. Gender, chronological and dental age

The association between gender and the incidence of root resorption is controversial. Most of the studies reported no correlation between gender and the extent of $OIIRR^{4,7,16}$. Newman found females are more susceptible, with ratio of 3.7:1 for females to males¹⁷. Baumrind et al.¹⁸, on the other hand, found male adult patients (age>20) had a greater prevalence of OIIRR. However, Kjaer²⁸ showed the opposite association between sex and OIIRR among adolescents.

With increasing chronological age, changes to the dentoalveolas occur and the PDL becomes denser, avascular and aplastic, and the thickness of cementum increases⁴³. Adults also have aplastic alveolar bone surface, slow fibrous tissue reaction and slower the turnover rate of collagen molecules than younger patients⁴³. These changes are thought to be responsible for the increased rate of root resorption in adults. However, relationship between chronological age and root resorption remains controversial. Several investigations ^{4,18,19,204} showed that age is not a significant factor for OIIRR. Whereas other studies disagree due to lack of significance in the results^{7,12,43}.

Dental age and the stage of root formation and their relationship to OIIRR has been investigated. It has been postulated that teeth with open apices may be more resistant to apical root resorption¹². However, this was disagreed by Henrix et al.¹⁶ who demonstrated that teeth with incomplete root formation did not reach their "normal" tooth length. This study employed radiographic examination with inherent limitation that may affect the measurement results⁵⁰.

2.3.3.4.1.6. Habits

Habits such as finger-sucking habits persisting beyond the age of 7 years²⁴, nail biting²⁶ and lip or tongue dysfunction^{17,24} have been reported as risk factors to increased root resorption. Also, long-term orthopaedic forces from tongue thrusting associated with anterior open bites may promote increased root resorption²⁵.

58

2.3.3.4.1.7. Medications

Corticosteroids are anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive medications used in several chronic medical conditions including allergy, asthma, dermatitis and eczema. Research on the effect of corticosteroid on OIIRR remains controversial. This could be due to the different animal models studied, different dosages of corticosteroids and also different duration²³.

Verna et al.²³ investigated the effect of acute and chronic corticosteroid treatment on external root resorption in rats. They reported increased root resorption in the acute corticosteroid group compared to chronic and control groups. Different dosage levels also affect RR differently; dosage as low as 1mg/kg oral prednisolone in rats reduced root resorption²² while dosage as high as 15 mg/kg cortisone acetate in rabbits increased both tooth movement and root resorption²¹.

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are common medications for treatment of pain, inflammation and fever. Research studies have reported different effect of NSAIDS: reduction of tooth $movement^{205,206}$, reduction of RR²⁰, and both²².

Bisphosphonates are potent inhibitors of bone resorption by causing apoptosis in osteoclasts²⁰⁷. Lui *et al.*¹⁵² investigated the effect of clodronate, a particular type of bisphosphonate, in rats. They found reduced tooth movement, reduced number of osteoclasts and smaller RR area. However, other studies found that bisphosphonates caused the formation of atypical hyperplastic cementum which

lacks of resistance against root resorption and thus increased susceptibility to the resorptive process^{208,209}.

2.3.3.4.2. Dental Risk Factors

2.3.3.4.2.1. *History of previous root resorption prior to orthodontic treatment* Studies have found that patients with pre-existing evidence of RR have greater risk in developing further severe OIIRR with treatment^{17,19,25}.

2.3.3.4.2.2. History of trauma

The history of trauma was found to contribute to apical root resorption significantly in orthodontic treatment^{24,33}. Trauma itself can cause root resorption without any orthodontic force application but the combination of trauma and orthodontic tooth movement can accelerate the resorptive process^{24,33}.

The severity and type of trauma are also important factors with intrusive trauma being the most serious which may lead to severe root resorption and ankylosis³². Brin et al.³³ demonstrated that teeth with a history of trauma were more susceptible to complications such as root resorption and loss of vitality. Linge and Linge¹² found orthodontically induced average root shortening of 1.07mm with previously traumatised teeth compared with 0.64mm for untraumatised teeth. Chaushu *et al.*²¹⁰ reported 54.8% of the teeth had external resorption after intrusive trauma and all the teeth with closed root apices lost their vitality.

However, Kjaer²⁸ proposed that teeth with slight or moderate injuries may not lead to any greater risk of OIIRR than uninjured teeth. Moreover, it has been shown that traumatized tooth without any sign of root resorption after 4-5 months, did not resorb more than non-traumatized tooth^{211,212}.

Malmgren et al²¹² suggested waiting for 1 year after a traumatic incident before commencing orthodontic treatment.

2.3.3.4.2.3. History of endodontic treatment

There are conflicting reports in literature on the susceptibility of endodontically treated teeth to OIIRR.

It has been suggested that endodontically treated teeth can be readily moved as vital teeth since pulp is not the key element in orthodontic tooth movement³⁷. Esteves et al.³⁴ reported no statistical difference in apical root resorption between endodontically treated and untreated teeth. Others reported more root resorption with endodontically treated teeth than vital teeth³⁷. In contrast, other studies have shown that endodontically treated teeth exhibited less root resorption than vital teeth^{36,35}. Many authors believed that endodontically treated teeth were more resistant to OIIRR due to an increase in hardness and density of dentine^{31,36,43,213}.

2.3.3.4.2.4. Hypofunctional Periodontium

A hypofunctional periodontium has narrowed periodontal space with derangement of functional fibres which lessens the cushioning effect of PDL to distribute force. This results in high concentration of force which leads to stimulation of inflammation and subsequent OIIRR^{38,39}. Sringkarnboriboon and colleagues⁴⁰ compared the amount of root resorption associated with a normal and a hypofunctional periodontium in rats. Their results showed that the amount of root resorption was significantly greater in teeth with a hypofunctional periodontium than in those with a normal periodontium.

2.3.3.4.2.5. Alveolar bone density and turnover rate

It has been suggested that OIIRR is increased in dense alveolar bone^{42,43}. In addition, a strong continuous force on low density alveolar bone caused equivalent OIIRR as a mild continuous force on high density alveolar bone⁴². Verna and colleagues ⁴⁴ found high bone turnover increased tooth movement in rats. Whereas the low bone turnover group showed more RR suggesting that in subjects with a decreased or delayed bone turnover rate, root surfaces could already be affected by RR at baseline condition, thus more susceptible to further OIIRR.

2.3.3.4.2.6. Abnormal root morphology and dental anomalies

Many studies indicated increased OIIRR in teeth with aberrant-shaped roots^{7,28-31}. Sameshima and Sinclair ranked the shape of roots in descending order of risk: dilacerated, pipette shaped, pointed⁷. When the same orthodontic force is applied to the root apex, the distribution of the stress is different according to the root

anatomy, and the increased stresses may traumatize the apical PDL, causing an inflammatory/repair process, and progressing to resorption of the root apex¹⁵. Using finite element model (FEM), Oyama *et al.*²⁷ showed that significant stresses were concentrated at the apex with bent or pipette-shaped root. Moreover, during orthodontic force application, greater loading was observed in the short, bent, and pipette-shaped root shapes, suggesting a higher risk of resorption.

In addition to root morphology, dental anomalies such as invagination and taurodontism have been proposed as a predisposing factor for OIIRR^{28,214}. However, other researchers did not identify individual anomalies as risk factor for root resorption^{215,216}.

2.3.3.4.2.7. Specific tooth and site susceptibility

The teeth most likely to be affected by OIIRR in descending order of severity are: maxillary lateral incisors, maxillary central incisors, mandibular incisors, distal root of mandibular first molar, mandibular second premolars, and maxillary second premolars^{7,48,211,217}. Maxillary lateral incisors are most susceptible to root resorption due to the abnormal root shape⁷.

Maxillary dentition is more prone to root resorption than mandibular dentition^{17,169,213,218}. In particular, maxillary first premolars are more likely to suffer from OIIRR than the mandibular first premolar^{219, 220}. This could be a result of greater recruitment of inflammatory cells due to the lower bone density

and increased vascularisation of the maxilla and the proximity to the maxillary sinus.

In a series of 200 consecutively debanded patients, Kaley and Phillips⁴¹ observed 3% of maxillary incisors with severe root resorption (greater than one-quarter of the root length) and 1% for other teeth. In general, it was postulated that if there is no apical root resorption detected in the maxillary and mandibular incisors, then it is less likely for significant apical resorption in other teeth²²¹.

2.3.3.4.2.8. Types of Malocclusion and proximity to cortical plate

There are conflicting reports in literature regarding the relationship between OIIRR and malocclusion. Some studies identified an association^{4,7,24,25}, while others reported no association^{31, 69}. Increased overjet has been associated with greater OIIRR^{7,24}. The reason for the increased RR in severe malocclusion is likely due to the more extensive treatment requirements, for example, greater retraction or excessive torque in large overjet correction, or greater intrusion in deep overbite correction^{4,47}. Various reports on increased risk of OIIRR with the type of malocclusion: Cl III⁴¹, Cl II Div1⁴⁹, Cl II Div2²²², open bite^{223,25}. Cl III surgical patients had 1.6% and 20.8% reduction in maxillary and mandibular incisor length respectively⁴¹. This effect was possibly due to the surgery altering the blood supply and nutrition to the periodontium¹⁶².

In addition, proximity to cortical plate has been identified as another factor in increased OIIRR. Maxillary incisor roots against the palatal cortical plate was risk indicator with an odds ratio of 20^{41} .

2.3.3.4.3. Mechanical Risk Factors

These factors are attributed to the mechanics of orthodontic therapy and are controlled by both the clinician and the patient.

2.3.3.4.3.1. Orthodontic Appliances

Studies have attempted to determine the appliance type and the treatment technique that minimise OIIRR. In general, fixed appliances cause significantly greater OIIRR than removable appliances¹². This difference could be attributed to the nature of the removable appliances which do not deliver continuous force and allow tissue recovery while removed. Clear sequential removable thermoplastic appliances causes similar amount of root resorption as light (25 g) forces with fixed appliances⁵².

Various studies reported that one technique is more advantageous over the other, for example, Edgewise over Begg^{51,224,221}, Begg over Edgewise⁵⁴, Straightwire over Standard Edgewise⁵³. However, other studies found no difference between bracket types^{47,54,212,218,225}.

Alexander²¹⁷ found no difference in the extent of root resorption between continuous arch and sectional arch mechanics.

The use of intermaxillary elastics was identified as a significant risk factor for $OIIRR^{24,12,31}$ due to the jiggling forces that have been shown to increase the risk of root resorption^{18,31,226}. However others did not detect such relationship⁶⁸.

2.3.3.4.3.2. Treatment duration

The majority of studies reported a link between the severity of OIIRR and treatment duration^{30,47-50,68,70,227,228}. Only a small number of studies disagree with these findings^{31,69}.

Sameshima and Sinclair⁶⁸ assessed 868 patients and found duration of treatment was significantly associated with root resorption. It has been reported that 34% percent of the teeth underwent root resorption after 6-9 months of orthodontic treatment and this rate increased to 56% after 19 months of treatment duration³⁰. A study on maxillary en masse anterior retraction (n=50), Liou and Chang²²⁹ demonstrated the amount of OIIRR in maxillary incisors were significantly correlated to the duration of treatment.

2.3.3.4.3.3. Direction of force application

Different types of tooth movement is generated during orthodontic treatment depending on the direction of applied force and the moment generated: intrusion, extrusion, tipping, bodily movement, torque, and rotation. The resulting variation in the amount and location of stress concentration within the PDL is thought to correlate with OIIRR. It has been reported that intrusion is most likely to cause OIIRR^{42,230}. Han et al.²³¹ showed intrusion causing approximately four times more root resorption than extrusion. The extent of OIIRR from intrusion is further exacerbated by duration and magnitude of force^{42,64,70,176}. In extrusive movement, Weekes and Wong²³² demonstrated OIIRR occurring at the interproximal region of the cervical third region of the root.

Bodily movement has been associated with less root resorption compared with tipping due to the difference in the stress distribution^{233,234}. Studies have reported stresses concentration at the alveolar crest and the root apex during tipping movement²³⁵⁻²³⁷. Using micro-CT, Chan and Darendeliler²³⁸ demonstrated that buccal cervical and lingual apical regions had significantly more resorption craters during buccal tipping movement. Following application of palatal root torque, an SEM study has shown RR craters on the palatal apex and buccal cervical regions⁵⁵. In addition, Sameshima and Sinclair⁶⁸ reported that displacement of the incisor apices were significantly associated with root resorption. Root shortening due to labial root torque was quantified to be 12.7% per year²²⁸.

The stress distribution during rotational movement is closely related to the anatomical shape of the tooth and socket. Using finite element analysis, McGuinness²³⁹ demonstrated that the highest stress concentration areas was located in the cervical region of human canine. However, Rudolph et al.²³⁵ reported the highest stress concentration at the apex of the root. In contrast, Wu et al.²⁴⁰ showed root resorption craters mostly located at the boundaries between the buccal and distal surfaces, and between the lingual and mesial surfaces.

2.3.3.4.3.4. Magnitude of force application

Many animal^{58,60,61} and human^{55,56,59,241,242} studies have reported direct correlation of force magnitude with the severity of OIIRR. When heavy force is applied (exceeding 26 g/cm² capillary blood pressure¹⁰⁴) ischeamia, hyalinization, OIIRR results and repair process is affected^{42,61,64,185,230,243}. Hohmann *et al.*^{244,245} showed an increased hydrostatic pressure is well correlated with the locations of root resorption for each tooth. Using a finite element model for intrusion movement, they noted that the increase in hydrostatic pressure of the PDL is the key parameter predicting root resorption²⁴⁵. Recent series of studies by Darendeliler and colleagues^{52,181,238} demonstrated the force magnitude as a significant factor for the extent of root resorption with the heavy force group had 3.31-fold greater amount of root resorption than light force group²³⁸. In an animal study examining 10, 25, 50 and 100 g of force on rat molars, Gonzales et al.⁶⁰ demonstrated that as heavier forces were applied, greater root resorption occurred.

On the contrary, some studies indicated no correlation between magnitude of applied force and the severity of root resorption. Owman-Moll^{121,179} postulated that the severity of root resorption (extension and depth of resorbed root contour and size of root area on histological sections) did not differ significantly when the applied force (50 cN) was doubled to 100 cN and increased four fold to 200cN.

2.3.3.4.3.5. Duration of force application

There are conflicting reports regarding continuous or intermittent force in relation to the OIIRR. Numerous studies demonstrated amount of OIIRR increased with the duration of the force application^{64,65}. In addition, it was observed that continuous forces caused significantly more severe root resorption than intermittent forces^{62,65}.

On the other hand, several studies reported no correlation between the severity of OIIRR and force duration. Owman-Moll⁶⁶ noted no difference in the amount or severity of root resorption between the continuous and interrupted continuous forces of the same magnitude (50 g). Similarly, no correlation was found between duration of intrusion and the amount of resorption⁶⁷.

The effect of treatment pause was investigated by Levander et al.⁶³. They assessed the effect of 2-3 months treatment pause on teeth that developed RR after initial six months of treatment. It was demonstrated that the amount of OIIRR was significantly less in the treatment pause group. The interruption of the forces facilitated the reorganisation of damaged periodontal tissues and restoration of blood flow occurs and reduced root shortening⁶³.

2.3.3.4.3.6. Distance of tooth movement

Teeth that are moved large distances have extended exposure to the resorptive process and also longer treatment duration. Many studies have supported this direct relationship between the severity of OIIRR and the distance of tooth movement^{67-69,246,247}. The upper incisors are commonly moved the greatest distance and are at the highest risk of OIIRR^{68,221,246,247}.

2.3.3.4.3.7. Extraction versus Non extraction treatment

There are inconsistent reports on the relationship between the OIIRR and the extraction/non extraction treatment^{51,68,70}. The nature of treatment can vary significantly with extraction treatment, for example, extraction in severe crowding will not impact on the incisor movement as much as extraction for incisor retraction purpose.

2.3.3.5. Prevention and Management of Orthodontically Induced Inflammatory Root Resorption

Vlaskalic et al⁵⁰ and Ghafari¹⁶² summarised approaches to minimise OIIRR: reduced treatment duration^{30,230}, use light intermittent forces^{42,64,185,230,235}, habit control^{17,26}, avoidance of sustained jiggling intermaxillary elastics²⁴, limit tooth movement for teeth susceptible to OIIRR such as intrusion and torque⁵⁴, and scrutinization of medical history and familial tendency.^{17,70,248}

It was strongly recommended periapical radiographs to be taken at least every year to monitor for presence of OIIRR¹⁶². Several other studies suggest that initial treatment periapical radiographs after 6 months^{29,63,249}.

If OIIRR is detected, treatment goals should be reassessed if RR is severe²⁵⁰, the force level should be modified, or active treatment should be stopped for 2-3 months⁶³. Additional radiographs should be taken every 3 months in at-risk patients to monitor the progress of $RR^{29,162}$. Final radiographs are mandatory at the end of the active treatment²⁵⁰. If severe root resorption exists, follow-up radiographs should be taken every 3 months until no progress of OIIRR is detected²⁴⁹
2.4. Magnets and magnetic fields

2.4.1. Magnetic properties and types

A magnet is an object that exhibits an external magnetic field. Magnets have two poles, a north and a south pole. It has the property that like poles repel each other, and unlike poles attract^{251,252}. The magnet field is a vector which has both magnitude and direction²⁵³. It emerges from the north pole and returns to the southpole⁷⁸. The magnetic field strength, also known as magnetic field intensity or magnetising field, is represented by the symbol H^{251} . It may be defined in terms of magnetic poles. At one centimetre from a unit pole the field strength is one Oersted. The Oersted is the unit of the magnetic field strength in the CGS system and it is measured in amperes per meter (A/m) in SI units.²⁵¹

Magnetic flux is a measure of quantity of magnetism, taking into account the strength and extent of the magnetic field²⁵². It is proportional to the total number of magnetic field lines that pass through the surface. The flux per unit area is called the magnetic flux density or magnetic induction, and is represented by the symbol B^{251} . The unit of the flux density is the tesla (T) or gauss (G) where 1 gauss = 10^{-4} tesla²⁵³. The flux density is proportional to the magnetic field strength^{251,252}.

The magnetic flux produced by magnets causes them to attract or repel other magnets, and attract materials containing iron⁷⁸. The force produced by any two magnets is inversely proportional to the square of the distance between them^{251,252}.

$$f \propto \frac{1}{d^2}$$

This means that the force between any two magnets falls dramatically with distance⁷⁸. Force-distance diagrams of magnets can be used to calculate the magnetic force level by measuring the gap between magnets²⁵⁴.

2.4.1.1. Magnetisation

Magnetic fields are produced by moving charges²⁵³. Every atom is a magnet because electrons orbit the nucleus²⁵⁵. In most substances the electrons are paired and the magnetism produced at the atomic level tends to cancel out with the result that the substance is nonmagnetic^{251,253,255}.

In ferromagnetic materials, the cancellation does not occur, and have small but highly magnetised region called a magnetic domain. Often the magnetic domains are arranged randomly, so the magnetic fields of each domain cancel each other and no overall magnetism is displayed^{253,255}. However, on the application of a magnetic field (H) provided by a permanent magnet or an electromagnet, the

domains align and produce a state of magnetism which can be in different patterns such as axial and radial²⁵³.

In some types of ferromagnetic materials the domains remain aligned when the external magnetic field is removed, and the material becomes permanently magnetised (Br). The magnetisation can be reduced to zero by the application of an equal and opposite magnetic field. By continuing to increase the magnitude of the reversed field, the material can be again saturated, but in a negative value^{251,256}.

2.4.1.2. Magnetic properties of matter

There are three different types of magnetic substances: diamagnetic, paramagnetic and ferromagnetic substances^{251,253}.

Diamagnetism causes lines of magnetic flux to curve away from the material and creates a magnetic field in opposition to the externally applied magnetic field, a repulsive effect. A diamagnetic substance is weakly repelled and exhibits no permanent magnetism. They include water, wood, most organic compounds and many metals such as bismuth, silver, gold, lead, stainless steel and copper²⁵¹.

Paramagnetism is a form of magnetism which occurs only in the presence of an externally applied magnetic field. A paramagnetic substance is one that is weakly attracted to magnets, and therefore will exhibit a small increase in magnetic flux density when an external magnetic field is applied. Iron and rare-earth salts are

paramagnetic substances, as well as elements such as sodium, potassium and oxygen.

A ferromagnetic substance is one that is strongly attracted to magnets. The magnetic domains are parallel in a ferromagnetic material. Common ferromagnetic materials are iron, nickel, cobalt, chromium dioxide and alnico, an aluminium-nickel-cobalt alloy²⁵³. Ferromagnetic materials can be termed as either hard or soft depending on how well they retain their magnetic properties after removal of an applied magnetic field^{251,255,256}. A soft magnet can be easily magnetised or demagnetised²⁵¹, for example, iron. A hard magnet is able to retain magnetic properties after being magnetised and can be made into permanent magnets²⁵⁵.

2.4.1.3. Permanent magnets

Permanent magnets create their own persistent magnetic field²⁵¹. All permanent magnets are made from ferromagnetic materials²⁵³.

The Curie temperature (Tc) is the temperature at which any ferromagnetic material loses its magnetism. Above this temperature, thermal agitation destroys the magnetic alignment and the magnet become demagnetised^{78,256}.

2.4.1.3.1. Alnico magnets

Alnico magnets were the first type of permanent magnets to be used for biomedical purposes²⁵⁶. Alnico magnets are alloys based on cobalt, aluminium, nickel and iron^{255,257}. These magnets were developed from the 1930s to the 1960s and offered considerable improvements in magnetic hardness compared to the steel magnets that were previously available²⁵⁶.

2.4.1.3.2. Cobalt-platinum magnets

Cobalt-platinum magnets were available at the same time as Alnico magnets. They were discovered in the 1930s and became available in the 1950s^{256,257}. They consist of equal percentages of cobalt and platinum, and had improved properties and corrosion resistance. They did not gain widespread use in medical or dental applications because of their high cost^{256,258}.

2.4.1.3.3. Ferrite magnets

Ferrite or ceramic magnets are the most widely used permanent magnetic material and play an important role in bulk magnet applications²⁵¹. Hard ferrite magnets are not commonly used in biomedical applications²⁵⁶.

2.4.1.3.4. Rare earth magnets

Rare earth magnets are capable of producing high forces relative to their size due to the property of magnetocrystaline anisotrophy^{78,259}. This property allows single crystals to be preferentially aligned in one direction (along the C-axis) which increases the magnetism²⁵⁹. The rare earth magnets demonstrate significant improvements in the maximum energy product (BH_{max}) which has lead to a dramatic reduction in the size of magnets required to produce a particular magnetic flux^{78,255}. They have very high coercivity, that is, a superior ability to resist demagnetisation.

There are several types of rare earth magnets – samarium cobalt, neodymium iron boron and samarium iron nitride²⁵⁶.

2.4.1.3.4.1. Samarium-Cobalt magnets

Samarium-cobalt (SmCo) magnets were developed in the 1960s and $1970s^{260,261}$. These magnets are characterised by high saturation magnetisation and Curie temperature $(500-750 \text{ °C})^{260}$. They are more costly than other rare earth magnets but are chosen in preference to those with a lower Curie temperature when they are needed for high temperature applications²⁵⁶.

2.4.1.3.4.2. Neodymium-iron-boron magnets

Neodymium-iron-boron (NdFeB) magnets were first announced in 1984^{262,263}. It has an extremely high magnetic saturation, good resistance to demagnetisation and the highest value of energy production. Their excellent magnetic properties allow the production of very small magnets⁷⁸. They are the main rare earth permanent magnet in use today²⁵⁶.

The main limitation of the neodymium magnet is that it had a low Curie temperature, as low as $300^{\circ}C^{261,262}$. This is a distinct disadvantage for dental applications as magnets are embedded in acrylic appliances which reaches a temperature of 80- 90 degrees on curing⁷⁸. This could cause a significant amount of flux loss.

2.4.1.3.4.3. Samarium-iron-nitride magnets

Samarium iron nitride permanent magnets are a promising candidate for future applications²⁵⁵. These magnets have high resistance to demagnetisation, high magnetism and better resistance to temperature and corrosion²⁵⁵.

2.4.2. Biological considerations

Biological safety tests of magnetic materials have been performed to investigate the effects of static magnetic fields and possible toxic effects of the materials or their corrosion products^{77,78}. Several studies have shown that magnets have good biocompatibility²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁷; however, cellular changes in response to static magnetic fields and corrosion products have been documented²⁶⁸.

2.4.2.1. Surface oxidation and coating

Rare earth magnets, especially those containing neodymium, are known to be susceptible to corrosion^{267,269,270}. Without a coating material oxygen diffuses into the magnet causing a metallurgical change in the surface layer. It is recommended that they are hermetically sealed for dental use^{267,269,271}.

In vitro studies investigating the effects of the corrosion products reported a range of effects from "no cytotoxic effects"^{267,272,273} to "mild cytotoxic effects"^{268,269}. Investigation of the short term effects of NdFeB magnets on osteoblast-like cells (UMR-106) did not appear to have any cytotoxic effects. Papadopulos et al.²⁷³ also did not show any significant effect on cellular activity in either attractive or repulsive magnetic fields.

Coating materials, such as biocompatible epoxy resin⁷², stainless steel²⁷⁴ or a thin layer of parylene⁷¹, are designed to act as a barrier to corrosion. Bondemark et al. reported that small amounts of water-soluble cytotoxic components were released by partially stainless steel coated samarium-cobalt magnets²⁶⁹. Vardimon and Mueller²⁷⁰ stated that acrylic alone was not an adequate coating material. Parylene (poly-para-xylene) is not sufficient to survive undamaged in the intra-oral environment.

The use of coating materials is also advocated to preserve the magnetic properties and clinical usefulness of intra-oral magnets^{264,275,276}. Disturbance of the physical properties and tarnishing of the magnets can occur after the corrosion assault²⁶⁴. Drago²⁷⁷ reported that tarnish and corrosion can seriously compromise the long-term effective use of intraoral magnets.

2.4.2.2. Static magnetic fields

Controversy exists in the literature with respect to the effects of static magnetic fields produced by the size and type of magnets used in orthodontics^{78,264}.

The effects of magnetic fields on the growth of cell cultures, both animal and human, have been evaluated. *In vitro* tests have demonstrated that static magnetic fields can affect certain biological parameters, such as stimulate enzymes, cell proliferation and attachment and osteogenesis^{78,278-280}. Also, there was release of cytotoxic components from new and clinically used magnets²⁶⁹.

The reported effects of magnetic fields on the growth of human cells are inconsistent. Some studies show no significant effects with regard to DNA synthesis, DNA content, cell shape, structure and number²⁸¹ or glycolytic activity²⁸². Whereas, Linder-Aronson and Lindskog showed progressively impaired attachment and cell growth. However, they did not exclude the possibility of corrosion products from the magnets contributing to the cytotoxic effects²⁸⁰.

80

Animal tests reported no adverse effects in the blood cells²⁸³, the tissues surrounding the implants^{265,284}, and the dental tissues²⁶⁶. *In vivo* studies on rats and monkeys demonstrated a reduction in epithelial thickness with permanent rare-earth magnet exposure. No abnormal healing or osteoblastic activity were detected after implantation of titanium-coated SmCo magnets in dog mandibles²⁸⁵ and in rabbits²⁸⁶.

Darendeliler et al.²⁸⁷ examined the effects of static magnetic fields (SMF) and pulsed electromagnetic fields (PEMF) on the rate of tooth movement and showed a significant increase in the rate of tooth movement. Both experimental groups experienced a reduction in the lag phase between the third and sixth day. Blood chemistry showed a reduced serum level of calcium, which was related to an increased rate of osteogenesis and an increase white blood cell count, possibly as a reaction to corrosive products²⁸⁷. In a related study Darendeliler *et al.* investigated the effects of SMF and PEMF on the rate and quality of hard tissue repair after osteotomies in guinea pig mandibles. Wound healing was found to be faster in both groups compared to the controls²⁸⁸.

Bondemark et al.²⁸⁹ examined human buccal mucosa after nine months exposure to orthodontic NdFeB magnets. Examinations clinically, histologically and immunohistochemically found no adverse long term effects on human buccal mucosa in contact with an acrylic-coated neodymium iron boron magnets. In addition, Bondemark et al.²⁹⁰ found that the SMF produced by rare earth magnets for orthodontic use did not cause any change in human dental pulp or gingival tissues adjacent to the magnets²⁹⁰.

2.4.3. Application of magnetic forces in orthodontics

Magnetic forces have been used in orthodontics for both tooth movement⁷¹⁻⁷⁵ and orthopaedic correction²⁹¹⁻²⁹⁶. The use of magnets for generating orthodontic forces has been a subject of increasing interest^{77,78,297}.

Traditional force delivery systems in orthodontics utilise wires, elastics and extraoral devices^{298,299}. Advantages of magnetic force delivery reported in the literature include good force control over short distances, no friction and no material fatigue²⁹⁷. Magnetic systems permit precise control of the force levels that are applied as they can be calculated from specific force-distance diagrams by measuring the distance between magnets²⁹⁷.

Several animal and clinical studies have documented the reliability of using magnetic forces for different tooth movements as summarised in the sections below.

2.4.3.1. Molar distalisation

Several authors have reported on the use of magnets to move molars distally⁷³⁻^{75,300-302}. In 1988 Gianelly et al described a new intra-arch method, whereby distalisation of maxillary first molars was achieved with repelling magnets in

combination with a modified Nance appliance cemented on the premolars⁷⁴. The molars were distalised at a rate of 0.75-1mm per month, without significant anchorage loss (20 percent)⁷³. Bondemark and Kurol using an analogous system to generate a repelling force of 116 grams at 1mm separation reported a mean crown movement of 4.2mm, 8 degrees of distal tipping and 8.5 degrees of distobuccal rotation in ten consecutively treated cases³⁰⁰.

Bondemark et al. compared the effectiveness of repelling magnets versus superelastic nickel titanium coils in maxillary first and second molar distalisation over a 6 month period⁷⁵. Mean distal molar movement was greater for the coils than the magnets, 3.2mm compared to 2.2mm. Erverdi conducted a similar study (with weekly activation of the magnets) also reported nickel-titanium coils to be more effective³⁰¹.

Bondemark and Kurol later evaluated radiographically the impact of these treatment techniques on proximal alveolar bone level changes. The authors concluded that there was no difference between an interrupted continuous force system produced by a magnet and a more continuous force produced by the superelastic nickel-titanium coils³⁰³.

2.4.3.2. Extrusion

Attractive magnets have been used for orthodontics to extrude a traumatised incisor and enhance root eruption^{304, 297}. The appliance comprised of one magnet fixed to the root and one embedded in a removable partial denture. To achieve

rapid extrusion, forces of 50 to 60 cN are recommended, approximately twice as much as that required for normal extrusion of a single rooted tooth³⁰⁵. The roots were successfully extruded 2 to 3mm with a force range from 50 to 240 cN during a treatment period of 9 to 11 weeks.

2.4.3.3. Impacted teeth

Treatment options for the management of impacted teeth include extraction, transplantation, and surgical exposure alone²⁹⁹. Conventional treatment of impacted tooth involves bonding the exposed tooth with mesh and chain and place orthodontic traction through mucosa, and it has associated problems such as gingival inflammation, reduced attached gingiva and difficulty in control traction force level^{71,306}.

An alternative employs magnetic traction. It involves surgical exposure of the impacted tooth, after which a magnet is bonded to the tooth surface. The mucosal flap is sutured in place, completely covering the tooth with its bonded magnet. Guided eruption is achieved by means of a second magnet embedded in an appliance and placed in such a way as to attract the sub-mucosal magnet into the ideal place. As the eruptive process is through normal, closed mucoperiosteum it has been stated that this ensures that a healthy periodontium will surround the tooth³⁰⁷.

The technique has been applied to the eruption of incisors, canines, premolars and molars^{71,308-310}. Darendeliler and Friedli combined the use of removable and fixed

84

attraction systems for an impacted canine. The fixed component consisted of a magnet-fixed Ballista type sectional arch. The authors did not observe any sideeffects and concluded that the use of magnets was effective for the eruption of impacted teeth and that treatment time and discomfort were reduced³⁰⁶.

The reported advantages of guided eruption include: operator and patient ease as there is no need to attach hooks or elastics, reduction in adjustments, continuous forces over a long period of time, friction-free system, healthy periodontium as the eruptive process is through normal, closed mucoperiosteum and reduced risk of infection^{78,307,308,311}. However, there are a number of limitations with this approach: attractive forces fall rapidly as distances between the magnets increase, the magnets may be subject to corrosion if the coating is damaged and care must be taken to ensure the correct polarity of the magnets⁷⁸.

2.4.3.4. Retention

Micro-magnetic retainers were introduced by Springate and Sandler in 1992³¹². In their case report small (0.8x0.8x1.5mm), NdFeB magnets were bonded to the palatal surfaces of the upper central incisors to prevent a median diastema from opening³¹². Directly bonded magnets have advantages over conventional fixed retainers. Oral hygiene can be maintained as flossing is not prevented and there are no wires close to the gingival margins. The teeth are not splinted which allows normal physiological movement. However, there are potential problems with this approach. The magnets can debond and the friction between the

magnets may cause damage to the protective resin coating and expose the magnet which will $corrode^{78}$.

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1. Mach-1 universal testing machine

The Mach-1universal testing machine (Biosyntech Inc, Quebec, Canada) was used to measure the attractive force of pairs of magnets. An electric motor and computerised system allows vertical displacement of the upper component of the machine while the lower component of the machine maintained stationary. Magnets are attached to a non-magnetic aluminium customised mounting jig using a small amount of adhesive (Loctite® Super Glue Gel Control TM, Henkel, Düsseldorf, Germany). A 10kg load cell was calibrated and the force measurement (in grams) was commenced with the magnetic pair in contact and then vertically separated 10mm at a speed of 12mm/min. The start position (0 μ m) was determined as the position corresponding to the peak tensile force (the "breakaway" load).

3.2. X-Ray Microtomography

Limitation of the conventional radiographs is that the production of a two dimensional image from a three dimensional object.

Tomography produces a two dimensional map of X-ray absorption in a two dimensional slice of the subject. A series of X-ray projections are made through the slice at various angles around an axis perpendicular to the slice. From this set of projections the x-ray absorption map is computed, and by taking a number of slices, a three dimensional map is produced³¹³.

Four generations of computed tomography that have been classified in the literature. The first generation or known as pencil beam system has the simplest arrangement composed of the X-ray source, a pin hole collimator and a single detector as designed by Hounsfield³¹⁴. The second generation uses a parallel beam of X-ray; while, third generation uses a flat fan distribution of X-rays. The fourth generation of computed tomography scanning device uses a cone beam geometry, which is a three dimensional analogue of the two dimensional fan beam geometry³¹⁵. This design is ideal for volumetric computed tomography.

The resolution of a two dimensional image is given in terms of pixels. A pixel is a two dimensional representation of the smallest unit of colour value within an image. This value can be a shade of grey or colour. The quality of an image improves with a greater resolution, i.e. the more pixels per unit area.

In three dimensional terms, the term voxel is used. A voxel is a three dimensional modification of a pixel with the added dimension of depth. Thus, a voxel has a volume and its dimensions have an X, Y and Z axis.

Skyscan 1172 is a compact desktop system for microscopy and micro tomography. It consists of an X-ray shadow microscopic system and a computer with tomographic reconstruction software. The system allows the researcher to make a non-destructive three dimensional reconstruction of the object's inner

88

structure from two dimensional X-ray shadow projections. A spatial resolution of 5 micron corresponding to near 1×10^{-7} cubic mm voxel size can be produced.

The system obtains multiple X-ray shadow transmission images of the object from different angular views, as the object rotates on a high precision stage. From these shadow images, cross section of the object are reconstructed by a modified Feldkamp cone beam algorithm, creating a complete 3D representation of the internal microstructure and density over a selected range of heights in the transmission image. After the serial reconstruction, three dimensional image displayed can be cut into cross sections, rotated and internal morphological parameters can be calculated. The sample is placed on a rotating platform which is programmed to revolve over 180 or 360 degrees with a fixed rotational step. The distance of the platform from the X-ray source determines the magnification. A higher magnification gives greater detail. A high resolution charged coupled device with a resolution of 1024x1024 pixels detects the incoming X-ray. The images are received and stored as 16 bit Tagged Image File Format (TIFF) picture files with a resolution of 1024x1024 pixels. The software package, VG Studio Max v1.2, v.2.1 and v2.2 (Volume graphics GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) is used to collate all the axial slices to form a three dimensional reconstruction of the scanned image.

3.3. Use Of Palatal Rugae and Orthodontic Tooth Movement

The palatal rugae is located on the anterior half of the hard palate and do not extend beyond this point posteriorly or cross the midline. The shape, length, width, prominence, number and orientation of the palatal rugae vary considerably among the individuals^{316 317}.

Some recent investigations have evaluated the stability of the palatal rugae during growth and orthodontic treatment³¹⁸⁻³²². In the comparison of tooth movement measured by cephalometric superimposition relative to the rugae points on study models, the medial points of the third palatal rugae are suggested to be suitable reference points for the assessment of anteroposterior tooth movement^{321,322}. In contrast, the lateral points of the third rugae are reported to be the most stable in another study.^{318,322}.

In this study, the first three palatal rugae were used to superimpose the models.

3.4. 3 Dimensional Laser Surface Scanner

Conventional radiographic method of tooth movement evaluation involved a two dimensional reflection of a three dimensional object. It has certain limitations such as, blurring, overlapping of anatomic structures, magnification error, as well as inevitably subjecting patients to radiation exposure. With the development of 3D measuring devices, some investigators have performed 3D superimposition of dental casts to analyze orthodontic tooth movement^{319,322-324}.

Digital 3D models are fast becoming a standard technology³²⁴. Numerous studies have shown that 3D digital models can be used for model analysis and diagnosis³²⁴⁻³²⁶ ³²⁷ ^{328,329}, treatment planning^{330,331}, design and manufacture of orthodontic appliances³³²⁻³³⁴, and evaluation of tooth movement³³⁵ ^{322,324,336}. However, studies on the reliability of computed superimposition of 3D digital models to assess the outcomes of orthodontic treatments have been limited^{322,335}.

OpenScan 100 Laserdenta is a specifically designed device for dental use. This scanner provides a resolution as high as 20 micron (0.02 mm) in each scan. Surface Tesselation Language (STL) formatted files then were then processed with VG Studio Max version 2.1 (Volume Graphics, Germany)

4. REFERENCES

1. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Multi-nucleated cells remove the main hyalinized tissue and start resorption of adjacent root surfaces. European Journal of Orthodontics 1994;16:265-273.

2. Reitan K. Initial tissue behavior during apical root resorption. Angle Orthodontist 1974;44:68-82.

3. Rygh P. Orthodontic root resorption studied by electron microscopy. Angle Orthodontist 1977;47:1-16.

4. Harris EF, Kineret SE, Tolley EA. A heritable component for external apical root resorption in patients treated orthodontically. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1997;111:301-309.

5. Al-Qawasmi RA, Hartsfield JK, Jr., Everett ET, Flury L, Liu L, Foroud TM et al. Genetic predisposition to external apical root resorption in orthodontic patients: linkage of chromosome-18 marker. J Dent Res 2003;82:356-360.

6. Ngan DC, Kharbanda OP, Byloff FK, Darendeliler MA. The genetic contribution to orthodontic root resorption: a retrospective twin study. Aust Orthod J 2004;20:1-9.

7. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Predicting and preventing root resorption: Part I. Diagnostic factors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2001;119:505-510.

8. Engstrom C, Granstrom G, Thilander B. Effect of orthodontic force on periodontal tissue metabolism. A histologic and biochemical study in normal and hypocalcemic young rats. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1988;93:486-495.

9. Goldie RS, King GJ. Root resorption and tooth movement in orthodontically treated, calcium-deficient, and lactating rats. Am J Orthod 1984;85:424-430.

10. Smith NH. Monostotic Paget's disease of the mandible presenting with progressive resorption of the teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1978;46:246-253.

11. Tangney NJ. Hypophosphatasia: a case report and literature review. Ir Med J 1979;72:530-531.

12. Linge BO, Linge L. Apical root resorption in upper anterior teeth. Eur J Orthod 1983;5:173-183.

13. McNab S, Battistutta D, Taverne A, Symons AL. External apical root resorption of posterior teeth in asthmatics after orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1999;116:545-551.

14. Davidovitch Z, Godwin S, Young-Guk P, Taverne A, Dobeck J, Lilly C et al. The etiology of root resorption In: McNamara JA, C. T, editors. Orthodontic treatment: management of infavorable sequelae. Ann Arbor, Michigan, Center for Human Growth and Development, University of Michigan 1996.

15. Nishioka M, Ioi H, Nakata S, Nakasima A, Counts A. Root resorption and immune system factors in the Japanese. Angle Orthod 2006;76:103-108.

16. Hendrix I, Carels C, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Van THM. A radiographic study of posterior apical root resorption in orthodontic patients. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1994;105:345-349.

17. Newman WG. Possible etiologic factors in external root resorption. Am J Orthod 1975;67:522-539.

18. Baumrind S, Korn EL, Boyd RL. Apical root resorption in orthodontically treated adults. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1996;110:311-320.

19. Massler M, Malone J. Root resorption in human permanent teeth American Journal of Orthodontics 1954;40:619-633.

20. Villa PA, Oberti G, Moncada CA, Vasseur O, Jaramillo A, Tobon D et al. Pulp-dentine complex changes and root resorption during intrusive orthodontic tooth movement in patients prescribed nabumetone. J Endod 2005;31:61-66.

21. Ashcraft MB, Southard KA, Tolley EA. The effect of corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis on orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1992;102:310-319.

22. Gonzales C, Hotokezaka H, Matsuo K, Shibazaki T, Yozgatian JH, Darendeliler MA et al. Effects of steroidal and nonsteroidal drugs on tooth movement and root resorption in the rat molar. Angle Orthod 2009;79:715-726.

23. Verna C, Hartig LE, Kalia S, Melsen B. Influence of steroid drugs on orthodontically induced root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 2006;9:57-62.

24. Linge L, Linge BO. Patient characteristics and treatment variables associated with apical root resorption during

orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1991;99:35-43.

25. Harris EF, Butler ML. Patterns of incisor root resorption before and after orthodontic correction in cases with anterior open bites. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1992;101:112-119.

26. Odenrick L, Brattstrom V. Nailbiting: frequency and association with root resorption during orthodontic treatment. Br J Orthod 1985;12:78-81.

27. Oyama K, Motoyoshi M, Hirabayashi M, Hosoi K, Shimizu N. Effects of root morphology on stress distribution at the root apex. Eur J Orthod 2007;29:113-117.

28. Kjaer I. Morphological characteristics of dentitions developing excessive root resorption during orthodontic treatment. Eur J Orthod 1995;17:25-34.

29. Levander E, Bajka R, Malmgren O. Early radiographic diagnosis of apical root resorption during orthodontic treatment: a study of maxillary incisors. Eur J Orthod 1998;20:57-63.

30. Levander E, Malmgren O. Evaluation of the risk of root resorption during orthodontic treatment: a study of upper incisors. Eur J Orthod 1988;10:30-38.

31. Mirabella AD, Artun J. Risk factors for apical root resorption of maxillary anterior teeth in adult orthodontic patients. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1995;108:48-55.

32. Andreasen JO, Bakland LK, Matras RC, Andreasen FM. Traumatic intrusion of permanent teeth. Part 1. An epidemiological study of 216 intruded permanent teeth. Dent Traumatol 2006;22:83-89.

33. Brin I, Ben-Bassat Y, Heling I, Engelberg A. The influence of orthodontic treatment on previously traumatized permanent incisors. Eur J Orthod 1991;13:372-377.

34. Esteves T, Ramos AL, Pereira CM, Hidalgo MM. Orthodontic root resorption of endodontically treated teeth. J Endod 2007;33:119-122.

35. Mirabella AD, Artun J. Prevalence and severity of apical root resorption of maxillary anterior teeth in adult orthodontic patients. Eur J Orthod 1995;17:93-99.

36. Spurrier SW, Hall SH, Joondeph DR, Shapiro PA, Riedel RA. A comparison of apical root resorption during orthodontic

treatment in endodontically treated and vital teeth. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1990;97:130-134.

37. Wickwire NA, Mc Neil MH, Norton LA, Duell RC. The effects of tooth movement upon endodontically treated teeth. Angle Orthod 1974;44:235-242.

38. Cooper SM, Sims MR. Evidence of acute inflammation in the periodontal ligament subsequent to orthodontic tooth movement in rats. Aust Orthod J 1989;11:107-109.

39. Selliseth NJ, Selvig KA. The vasculature of the periodontal ligament: a scanning electron microscopic study using corrosion casts in the rat. J Periodontol 1994;65:1079-1087.

40. Sringkarnboriboon S, Matsumoto Y, Soma K. Root resorption related to hypofunctional periodontium in experimental tooth movement. J Dent Res 2003;82:486-490.

41. Kaley J, Phillips C. Factors related to root resorption in edgewise practice. Angle Orthod 1991;61:125-132.

42. Reitan K. Initial tissue behavior during apical root resorption. Angle Orthod 1974;44:68-82.

43. Reitan K, Rygh. P. Biomechanical Principles and Reactions St. Louis: CV Mosby; 1985.

44. Verna C, Dalstra M, Melsen B. Bone turnover rate in rats does not influence root resorption induced by orthodontic treatment. Eur J Orthod 2003;25:359-363.

45. Artun J, Smale I, Behbehani F, Doppel D, Van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Apical root resorption six and 12 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Angle Orthod 2005;75:919-926.

46. Paetyangkul A, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 14. The amount of root resorption after force application for 12 weeks on maxillary and mandibular premolars: a microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:492 e491-499; discussion 492-493.

47. Beck BW, Harris EF. Apical root resorption in orthodontically treated subjects: analysis of edgewise and light wire mechanics. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1994;105:350-361.

48. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment: Part 2. Literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1993;103:138-146.

49. Taner T, Ciger S, Sencift Y. Evaluation of apical root resorption following extraction therapy in subjects with Class I and Class II malocclusions. Eur J Orthod 1999;21:491-496.

50. Vlaskalic V, Boyd RL, Baumrind S. Etiology and sequelae of root resorption. Semin Orthod 1998;4:124-131.

51. McNab S, Battistutta D, Taverne A, Symons AL. External apical root resorption following orthodontic treatment. Angle Orthod 2000;70:227-232.

52. Barbagallo LJ, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 10. Comparison of the effects of invisible removable thermoplastic appliances with light and heavy orthodontic forces on premolar cementum. A microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2008;133:218-227.

53. Mavragani M, Vergari A, Selliseth NJ, Boe OE, Wisth PL. A radiographic comparison of apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment with a standard edgewise and a straightwire edgewise technique. Eur J Orthod 2000;22:665-674.

54. Parker RJ, Harris EF. Directions of orthodontic tooth movements associated with external apical root resorption of the maxillary central incisor. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1998;114:677-683.

55. Casa MA, Faltin RM, Faltin K, Sander FG, Arana-Chavez VE. Root resorptions in upper first premolars after application of continuous torque moment. Intra-individual study. J Orofac Orthop 2001;62:285-295.

56. Darendeliler MA, Kharbanda OP, Chan EK, Srivicharnkul P, Rex T, Swain MV et al. Root resorption and its association with alterations in physical properties, mineral contents and resorption craters in human premolars following application of light and heavy controlled orthodontic forces. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:79-97.

57. Chan E, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 7. Extent of root resorption under areas of compression and tension. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;129:504-510.

58. Dellinger EL. A histologic and cephalometric investigation of premolar intrusion in the Macaca speciosa monkey. Am J Orthod 1967;53:325-355.

59. Faltin RM, Arana-Chavez VE, Faltin K, Sander FG, Wichelhaus A. Root resorptions in upper first premolars after application of continuous intrusive forces. Intra-individual study. J Orofac Orthop 1998;59:208-219.

60. Gonzales C, Hotokezaka H, Yoshimatsu M, Yozgatian JH, Darendeliler MA, Yoshida N. Force magnitude and duration effects on amount of tooth movement and root resorption in the rat molar. Angle Orthod 2008;78:502-509.

61. King GJ, Fischlschweiger W. The effect of force magnitude on extractable bone resorptive activity and cemental cratering in orthodontic tooth movement. J Dent Res 1982;61:775-779.

62. Ballard DJ, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 11. Continuous vs intermittent controlled orthodontic forces on root resorption. A microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:8 e1-8; discussion 8-9.

63. Levander E, Malmgren O, Eliasson S. Evaluation of root resorption in relation to two orthodontic treatment regimes. A clinical experimental study. Eur J Orthod 1994;16:223-228.

64. Harry MR, Sims MR. Root resorption in bicuspid intrusion. A scanning electron microscope study. Angle Orthod 1982;52:235-258.

65. Maltha JC, van Leeuwen EJ, Dijkman GE, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Incidence and severity of root resorption in orthodontically moved premolars in dogs. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:115-121.

66. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J, Lundgren D. Continuous versus interrupted continuous orthodontic force related to early tooth movement and root resorption. Angle Orthod 1995;65:395-401; discussion 401-392.

67. Dermaut LR, De Munck A. Apical root resorption of upper incisors caused by intrusive tooth movement: a radiographic study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1986;90:321-326.

68. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Predicting and preventing root resorption: Part II. Treatment factors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2001;119:511-515.

69. VonderAhe G. Postretention status of maxillary incisors with root-end resorption. Angle Orthod 1973;43:247-255.

70. McFadden WM, Engstrom C, Engstrom H, Anholm JM. A study of the relationship between incisor intrusion and root shortening. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;96:390-396.

71. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Drescher D, Bourauel C. Rare earth magnets and impaction. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1991;100:494-512.

72. Blechman AM. Magnetic force systems in orthodontics. Clinical results of a pilot study. American Journal of Orthodontics 1985;87:201-210.

73. Gianelly AA, Vaitas AS, Thomas WM. The use of magnets to move molars distally. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1989;96:161-167.

74. Gianelly AA, Vaitas AS, Thomas WM, Berger DG. Distalization of molars with repelling magnets. Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1988;22:40-44.

75. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Bernhold M. Repelling magnets versus superelastic nickel-titanium coils in simultaneous distal movement of first and second molars. Angle Orthodontist 1994;64:189-198.

76. Darvell BW, Dias APLH. Non-inverse-square force-distance law for long thin magnets. Dental Materials 2006;22:909-918.

77. Darendeliler MA, Darendeliler A, Mandurino M. Clinical application of magnets in orthodontics and biological implications: a review. European Journal of Orthodontics 1997;19:431-442.

78. Noar JH, Evans RD. Rare earth magnets in orthodontics: an overview. British Journal of Orthodontics 1999;26:29-37.

79. Nanci A, Bosshardt DD. Structure of periodontal tissues in health and disease. Periodontol 2000 2006;40:11-28.

80. Clarke B. Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3 Suppl 3:S131-139.

81. Eriksen EF, Axelrod DW. Bone Histomorphometry. New York: Raven Press; 1994.

82. Albright J, Skinner H. Bone: structural organization and remodeling dynamics. East Norwalk: Appleton and Lange; 1987.

83. Sommerfeldt DW, Rubin CT. Biology of bone and how it orchestrates the form and function of the skeleton. Eur Spine J 2001;10 Suppl 2:S86-95.

84. Rubin CT, Gross TS, McLeod KJ, Bain SD. Morphologic stages in lamellar bone formation stimulated by a potent mechanical stimulus. J Bone Miner Res 1995;10:488-495.

85. Nanci A. Ten Cate's Oral Histology: Development, Structure and Function St.Louis: Mosby Elsevier; 2008. p. 108-141.

86. Sandberg MM. Matrix in cartilage and bone development: current views on the function and regulation of major organic components. Ann Med 1991;23:207-217.

87. Teitelbaum SL. Osteoclasts, integrins, and osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Metab 2000;18:344-349.

88. Downey PA, Siegel MI. Bone biology and the clinical implications for osteoporosis. Phys Ther 2006;86:77-91.

89. Ross MH, Kaye GI, Pawlina W. Histology: a text and atlas: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2003. p. 180-212.

90. Vaananen HK, Zhao H, Mulari M, Halleen JM. The cell biology of osteoclast function. J Cell Sci 2000;113 (Pt 3):377-381.

91. Nanci A. Ten Cate's Oral Histology: Development, Structure and Function St. Louis: Mosby Elsevier 2008. p. 239-268.

92. Bosshardt DD. Are cementoblasts a subpopulation of osteoblasts or a unique phenotype? J Dent Res 2005;84:390-406.

93. Saygin NE, Giannobile WV, Somerman MJ. Molecular and cell biology of cementum. Periodontol 2000 2000;24:73-98.

94. Bosshardt DD, Selvig KA. Dental cementum: the dynamic tissue covering of the root. Periodontol 2000 1997;13:41-75.

95. Rex T, Kharbanda OP, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 4. Quantitative analysis of the mineral composition of human premolar cementum. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;127:177-185.

96. Armitage GC, Avery JK, Bhaskar SN, Bhussry BR, Hand AR, Johnston MC. Cementum. In: Bhaskar SN, editor. Orban's oral histology and embryology. St. Louis: Mosby; 1980. p. 180-203.

97. Schroeder HE. The Periodontium In: Oksche A, Vollrath L, editors. Handbook of microscopic anatomy Berlin: Springer 1986. p. 23-129.

98. Diekwisch TG. The developmental biology of cementum. Int J Dev Biol 2001;45:695-706.

99. Zander HA, Hurzeler B. Continuous cementum apposition. J Dent Res 1958;37:1035-1044.

100. Proffit WR. Biomechanics, mechanics and contemporary orthodontic appliances In: Proffit WR, Fields HWJ, Sarver DM, editors. Contemporary Orthodontics. St. Louis: Mosby; 2007. p. 331-358.

101. Wise GE, King GJ. Mechanisms of tooth eruption and orthodontic tooth movement. J Dent Res 2008;87:414-434.

102. Sanstedt C. Einige beitrage zur theorie der zahnregulierung. Nor Tannlaegeforen Tid 1904;5:236-256.

103. Oppenheim A. Tissue changes, particularly of the bone, incident to tooth movement. Am Orthod 1911;3:57-67.

104. Schwartz AM. Tissue changes incident to orthodontic tooth movement. Int J Orthod 1932;18:331-352.

105. Krishnan V, Davidovitch Z. Cellular, molecular, and tissuelevel reactions to orthodontic force. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;129:469 e461-432.

106. Reitan K. Some factors determining the evaluation of forces in orthodontics. Am J Orthod 1957;43:32-45.

107. Mostafa YA, Weaks-Dybvig M, Osdoby P. Orchestration of tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1983;83:245-250.

108. Farrar JN. Irregularities of the teeth and their correction. New York; 1888.

109. Baumrind S. A reconsideration of the propriety of the "pressure-tension" hypothesis. Am J Orthod 1969;55:12-22.

110. Grimm FM. Bone bending, a feature of orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1972;62:384-393.

111. Meikle MC. The tissue, cellular, and molecular regulation of orthodontic tooth movement: 100 years after Carl Sandstedt. Eur J Orthod 2006;28:221-240.

112. Epker BN, Frost TM. Correlation of bone resorption and formations with the physical behaviour of loaded bone. J Dent Res 1965;44:33-41.

113. Davidovitch Z, Finkelson MD, Steigman S, Shanfeld JL, Montgomery PC, Korostoff E. Electric currents, bone remodeling, and orthodontic tooth movement. I. The effect of electric currents on periodontal cyclic nucleotides. Am J Orthod 1980;77:14-32.

114. Davidovitch Z, Finkelson MD, Steigman S, Shanfeld JL, Montgomery PC, Korostoff E. Electric currents, bone remodeling, and orthodontic tooth movement. II. Increase in rate of tooth movement and periodontal cyclic nucleotide levels by combined force and electric current. Am J Orthod 1980;77:33-47.

115. Borgens RB. Endogenous ionic currents traverse intact and damaged bone. Science 1984;225:478-482.

116. Burstone CJ. Biomechanics of tooth movement Philadelphia Lea&Febiger 1962.

117. Roberts WE, Varnarsdall RL. Orthodontics: Current principles and techniques. St Louis: Mosby Co; 1994.

118. Pilon JJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Maltha JC. Magnitude of orthodontic forces and rate of bodily tooth movement. An experimental study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1996;110:16-23.

119. van Leeuwen EJ, Maltha JC, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Tooth movement with light continuous and discontinuous forces in beagle dogs. Eur J Oral Sci 1999;107:468-474.

120. Quinn RS, Yoshikawa DK. A reassessment of force magnitude in orthodontics. Am J Orthod 1985;88:252-260.

121. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J, Lundgren D. Effects of a doubled orthodontic force magnitude on tooth movement and root resorptions. An inter-individual study in adolescents. Eur J Orthod 1996;18:141-150.

122. Iwasaki LR, Haack JE, Nickel JC, Morton J. Human tooth movement in response to continuous stress of low magnitude. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2000;117:175-183.

123. Hixon EH, Atikian H, Callow GE, McDonald HW, Tacy RJ. Optimal force, differential force, and anchorage. Am J Orthod 1969;55:437-457.

124. Smith R, Storey E. The importance of force in orthodontics :The design of cuspid retraction springs Aust Dent J 1952;56:291-304.

125. Begg PR, Kesling PC. Differential forces in orthodontic tooth movement Am J Orthod 1956;42:481-510.

126. Boester CH, Johnston LE. A clinical investigation of the concepts of differential and optimal force in canine retraction. Angle Orthod 1974;44:113-119.

127. von Bohl M, Maltha JC, Von Den Hoff JW, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Focal hyalinization during experimental tooth movement in beagle dogs. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2004;125:615-623.

128. Ren Y, Maltha JC, Van 't Hof MA, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Optimum force magnitude for orthodontic tooth movement: a mathematic model. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2004;125:71-77.

129. Roberts EW. Bone physiology, metabolism and biomechanics in orthodontic practice. In: Graber TM, Varnarsdall RL, editors. Orthodontics current principles and techniques. St. Louis: Mosby 2005. p. 221-292.

130. Miura F, Mogi M, Ohura Y, Karibe M. The super-elastic Japanese NiTi alloy wire for use in orthodontics. Part III. Studies on the Japanese NiTi alloy coil springs. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1988;94:89-96.

131. Darendeliler MA, Darendeliler H, Uner O. The drum spring (DS) retractor: constant and continuous force for canine retraction. Eur J Orthod 1997;19:115-130.

132. Misawa Y, Kageyama T, Moriyama K, Kurihara S, Yagasaki H, Deguchi T et al. Effect of age on alveolar bone turnover adjacent to maxillary molar roots in male rats: A histomorphometric study. Arch Oral Biol 2007;52:44-50.

133. Ren Y, Maltha JC, Van 't Hof MA, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Age effect on orthodontic tooth movement in rats. J Dent Res 2003;82:38-42.

134. Roberts WE, Garetto LP, Katona TR. Principles of orthodontic biomechanics: Metabolic and mechanical control mechanisms In: Carlson DS, Goldstein SA, editors. Bone biodynamics in orthodontic and orthopedic treatment Ann Arbor; 1992. p. 189-256.

135. Gameiro GH, Pereira-Neto JS, Magnani MB, Nouer DF. The influence of drugs and systemic factors on orthodontic tooth movement. J Clin Orthod 2007;41:73-78; quiz 71.

136. Carlsten H. Immune responses and bone loss: the estrogen connection. Immunol Rev 2005;208:194-206.

137. Miyajima K, Nagahara K, Iizuka T. Orthodontic treatment for a patient after menopause. Angle Orthod 1996;66:173-178; discussion 179-180.

138. Britto JM, Fenton AJ, Holloway WR, Nicholson GC. Osteoblasts mediate thyroid hormone stimulation of osteoclastic bone resorption. Endocrinology 1994;134:169-176.

139. Schoutens A, Laurent E, Markowicz E, Lisart J, De Maertelaer V. Serum triiodothyronine, bone turnover, and bone mass changes in euthyroid pre- and postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 1991;49:95-100.

140. Tyrovola JB, Spyropoulos MN. Effects of drugs and systemic factors on orthodontic treatment. Quintessence Int 2001;32:365-371.

141. Soma S, Iwamoto M, Higuchi Y, Kurisu K. Effects of continuous infusion of PTH on experimental tooth movement in rats. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14:546-554.

142. Soma S, Matsumoto S, Higuchi Y, Takano-Yamamoto T, Yamashita K, Kurisu K et al. Local and chronic application of PTH accelerates tooth movement in rats. J Dent Res 2000;79:1717-1724.

143. Collins MK, Sinclair PM. The local use of vitamin D to increase the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1988;94:278-284.

144. Bartzela T, Turp JC, Motschall E, Maltha JC. Medication effects on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;135:16-26.

145. Mohammed AH, Tatakis DN, Dziak R. Leukotrienes in orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;95:231-237.

146. Yamasaki K, Shibata Y, Fukuhara T. The effect of prostaglandins on experimental tooth movement in monkeys (Macaca fuscata). J Dent Res 1982;61:1444-1446.

147. Yamasaki K, Shibata Y, Imai S, Tani Y, Shibasaki Y, Fukuhara T. Clinical application of prostaglandin E1 (PGE1) upon orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1984;85:508-518.

148. Seifi M, Eslami B, Saffar AS. The effect of prostaglandin E2 and calcium gluconate on orthodontic tooth movement and root resorption in rats. Eur J Orthod 2003;25:199-204.

149. Kokkinos PP, Shaye R, Alam BS, Alam SQ. Dietary lipids, prostaglandin E2 levels, and tooth movement in alveolar bone of rats. Calcif Tissue Int 1993;53:333-337.

150. Yamasaki K, Miura F, Suda T. Prostaglandin as a mediator of bone resorption induced by experimental tooth movement in rats. J Dent Res 1980;59:1635-1642.

151. Kalia S, Melsen B, Verna C. Tissue reaction to orthodontic tooth movement in acute and chronic corticosteroid treatment. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:26-34.

152. Liu L, Igarashi K, Haruyama N, Saeki S, Shinoda H, Mitani H. Effects of local administration of clodronate on orthodontic tooth movement and root resorption in rats. Eur J Orthod 2004;26:469-473.

153. Hellsing E, Hammarstrom L. The effects of pregnancy and fluoride on orthodontic tooth movements in rats. Eur J Orthod 1991;13:223-230.

154. Gonzales C, Hotokezaka H, Karadeniz EI, Miyazaki T, Kobayashi E, Darendeliler MA et al. Effects of fluoride intake on orthodontic tooth movement and orthodontically induced root resorption. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2011;139:196-205.

155. Midgett RJ, Shaye R, Fruge JF, Jr. The effect of altered bone metabolism on orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1981;80:256-262.

156. Blechman AM, Steger ER. A possible mechanism of action of repelling, molar distalizing magnets. Part 1. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1995;108:428-431.

157. Darendeliler MA, Zea A, Shen G, Zoellner H. Effects of pulsed electromagnetic field vibration on tooth movement induced by magnetic and mechanical forces: a preliminary study. Aust Dent J 2007;52:282-287.

158. Stark TM, Sinclair PM. Effect of pulsed electromagnetic fields on orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1987;91:91-104.

159. Darendeliler MA, Sinclair PM, Kusy RP. The effects of samarium-cobalt magnets and pulsed electromagnetic fields on tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1995;107:578-588.

160. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Multi-nucleated cells remove the main hyalinized tissue and start resorption of adjacent root surfaces. Eur J Orthod 1994;16:265-273.

161. Andreasen JO. Review of root resorption systems and models. Etiology of root resorption and the homeostatic mechanisms of the periodontal ligament. In: Davidovitch B, editor. Biological mechanisms of tooth eruption 1988. p. 9-22. 162. Ghafari JG. Root resorption associated with combined orthodontic treatment and orthognatic surgery: modified definitions of the resorptive process suggested. In: Davidovitch Z, editor. Biological mechanisms of ntooth eruption, resorption & replacement by implants. Birmingham EBSCO Media; 1994. p. 545-556.

163. Tronstad L. Root resorption- a multidisciplinary problem in dentistry. In: Davidovitch Z, editor. The biological mechanisms of tooth eruption and root resorption EBSCO Media 1988. p. 293-301.

164. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption. Part I: The basic science aspects. Angle Orthod 2002;72:175-179.

165. Bates S. Absorption. Br J Dent Sci 1856;1:256.

166. Becks H, Marshall J. Resorption or absorption? Journal of the American Dental Association 1932:1528-1537.

167. Ottolengui R. The physiological and pathological resorption of tooth roots Items of Interest 1914;36:332-362.

168. Ketcham A. A preliminary report of an investigation of apical root resorption of vital permanent teeth Int J Orthod 1927;12:97-127.

169. Ketcham A. A progress report of an investigation of apical root resorption of vital permanent teeth. Int J Orthod 1929;15:310-328.

170. Henry JL, Weinmann JP. The pattern of resorption and repair of human cementum. J Am Dent Assoc 1951;42:270-290.

171. Deane S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 12. The incidence of physiologic root resorption on unerupted third molars and its comparison with orthodontically treated premolars: a microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:148 e141-149; discussion 148-149.

172. Lupi JE, Handelman CS, Sadowsky C. Prevalence and severity of apical root resorption and alveolar bone loss in orthodontically treated adults. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1996;109:28-37.

173. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Characteristics of patients with severe root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:108-114.

174. Leach HA, Ireland AJ, Whaites EJ. Radiographic diagnosis of root resorption in relation to orthodontics. Br Dent J 2001;190:16-22.

175. Kurol J, Owman-Moll P, Lundgren D. Time-related root resorption after application of a controlled continuous orthodontic force. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1996;110:303-310.

176. Harris DA, Jones AS, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 8. Volumetric analysis of root resorption craters after application of controlled intrusive light and heavy orthodontic forces: a microcomputed tomography scan study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;130:639-647.

177. Sameshima GT, Asgarifar KO. Assessment of root resorption and root shape: periapical vs panoramic films. Angle Orthod 2001;71:185-189.

178. Owman-Moll P. Orthodontic tooth movement and root resorption with special reference to force magnitude and duration. A clinical and histological investigation in adolescents. Swed Dent J Suppl 1995;105:1-45.

179. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J, Lundgren D. The effects of a four-fold increased orthodontic force magnitude on tooth movement and root resorptions. An intra-individual study in adolescents. Eur J Orthod 1996;18:287-294.

180. Chan EK, Darendeliler MA. Exploring the third dimension in root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:64-70.

181. Cheng LL, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 13. Repair of root resorption 4 and 8 weeks after the application of continuous light and heavy forces for 4 weeks: a microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:320 e321-310; discussion 320-321.

182. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Non-clast cells start orthodontic root resorption in the periphery of hyalinized zones. Eur J Orthod 1993;15:467-480.

183. Brudvik P, Rygh P. The initial phase of orthodontic root resorption incident to local compression of the periodontal ligament. Eur J Orthod 1993;15:249-263.

184. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Root resorption beneath the main hyalinized zone. Eur J Orthod 1994;16:249-263.

185. Rygh P. Orthodontic root resorption studied by electron microscopy. Angle Orthod 1977;47:1-16.

186. Barber AF, Sims MR. Rapid maxillary expansion and external root resorption in man: a scanning electron microscope study. Am J Orthod 1981;79:630-652.

187. Langford SR, Sims MR. Root surface resorption, repair, and periodontal attachment following rapid maxillary expansion in man. Am J Orthod 1982;81:108-115.

188. Timms DJ, Moss JP. An histological investigation into the effects of rapid maxillary expansion on the teeth and their supporting tissues. Trans Eur Orthod Soc 1971:263-271.

189. Thilander B, Rygh P, Reitan K. Tissue reactions in orthodontics. In: Graber T, Vanarsdall RL, editors. Orthodontics: Current principles and techniques. St. Louis Mosby 2005. p. 145-219.

190. Kvam E. Scanning electron microscopy of tissue changes on the pressure surface of human premolars following tooth movement. Scand J Dent Res 1972;80:357-368.

191. Brudvik P, Rygh P. The repair of orthodontic root resorption: an ultrastructural study. Eur J Orthod 1995;17:189-198.

192. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Transition and determinants of orthodontic root resorption-repair sequence. Eur J Orthod 1995;17:177-188.

193. Tyrovola JB, Spyropoulos MN, Makou M, Perrea D. Root resorption and the OPG/RANKL/RANK system: a mini review. J Oral Sci 2008;50:367-376.

194. Lacey DL, Timms E, Tan HL, Kelley MJ, Dunstan CR, Burgess T et al. Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. Cell 1998;93:165-176.

195. Low E, Zoellner H, Kharbanda OP, Darendeliler MA. Expression of mRNA for osteoprotegerin and receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa beta ligand (RANKL) during root resorption induced by the application of heavy orthodontic forces on rat molars. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;128:497-503.

196. Nishijima Y, Yamaguchi M, Kojima T, Aihara N, Nakajima R, Kasai K. Levels of RANKL and OPG in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement and effect of compression force on releases from periodontal ligament cells in vitro. Orthod Craniofac Res 2006;9:63-70.
197. Kanzaki H, Chiba M, Shimizu Y, Mitani H. Periodontal ligament cells under mechanical stress induce osteoclastogenesis by receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand up-regulation via prostaglandin E2 synthesis. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:210-220.

198. Yamaguchi M, Aihara N, Kojima T, Kasai K. RANKL increase in compressed periodontal ligament cells from root resorption. J Dent Res 2006;85:751-756.

199. Abass SK, Hartsfield JK, Jr., Al-Qawasmi RA, Everett ET, Foroud TM, Roberts WE. Inheritance of susceptibility to root resorption associated with orthodontic force in mice. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2008;134:742-750.

200. Al-Qawasmi RA, Hartsfield JK, Jr., Everett ET, Weaver MR, Foroud TM, Faust DM et al. Root resorption associated with orthodontic force in inbred mice: genetic contributions. Eur J Orthod 2006;28:13-19.

201. Smale I, Artun J, Behbehani F, Doppel D, van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Apical root resorption 6 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;128:57-67.

202. Becks H. Orthodontic prognosis: evaluation of routine dentomedical examination to determine "good and poor" risks. American Journal of Orthodontics & Oral Surgery 1939;25:610-625.

203. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment in high- and low-risk patients: analysis of allergy as a possible predisposing factor. Eur J Orthod 2000;22:657-663.

204. Harris EF, Baker WC. Loss of root length and crestal bone height before and during treatment in adolescent and adult orthodontic patients. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1990;98:463-469.

205. Chumbley AB, Tuncay OC. The effect of indomethacin (an aspirin-like drug) on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1986;89:312-314.

206. Arias OR, Marquez-Orozco MC. Aspirin, acetaminophen, and ibuprofen: their effects on orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;130:364-370.

207. Reszka A, Halasy-Nagy J, Masarachia P, Rodan G. Bisphosphonates act directly on the osteoclast to induce caspase

cleavage of mst1 kinase during apoptosis. A link between inhibition of the mevalonate pathway and regulation of an apoptosis-promoting kinase. J Biol Chem 1999;274:34967-34973. 208. Alatli I, Hammarstrom L. Root surface defects in rat molar induced by 1-hydroxyethylidene-1,1-bisphosphonate. Acta Odontol Scand 1996;54:59-65.

209. Alatli I, Hellsing E, Hammarstrom L. Orthodontically induced root resorption in rat molars after 1-hydroxyethylidene-1,1-bisphosphonate injection. Acta Odontol Scand 1996;54:102-108.

210. Chaushu S, Shapira J, Heling I, Becker A. Emergency orthodontic treatment after the traumatic intrusive luxation of maxillary incisors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2004;126:162-172.

211. Brin I, Tulloch JF, Koroluk L, Philips C. External apical root resorption in Class II malocclusion: a retrospective review of 1-versus 2-phase treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2003;124:151-156.

212. Malmgren O, Goldson L, Hill C, Orwin A, Petrini L, Lundberg M. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment of traumatized teeth. Am J Orthod 1982;82:487-491.

213. Remington DN, Joondeph DR, Artun J, Riedel RA, Chapko MK. Long-term evaluation of root resorption occurring during orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;96:43-46.

214. Thongudomporn U, Freer TJ. Anomalous dental morphology and root resorption during orthodontic treatment: a pilot study. Aust Orthod J 1998;15:162-167.

215. Mavragani M, Apisariyakul J, Brudvik P, Selvig KA. Is mild dental invagination a risk factor for apical root resorption in orthodontic patients? Eur J Orthod 2006;28:307-312.

216. Lee RY, Artun J, Alonzo TA. Are dental anomalies risk factors for apical root resorption in orthodontic patients? Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1999;116:187-195.

217. Alexander SA. Levels of root resorption associated with continuous arch and sectional arch mechanics. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1996;110:321-324.

218. Blake M, Woodside DG, Pharoah MJ. A radiographic comparison of apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment

with the edgewise and Speed appliances. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1995;108:76-84.

219. Ho C, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Cheng LL et al. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 22. Comparison of the amount of root resorption between right and left first bicuspids in the maxilla and the mandible following the application of buccally directed heavy orthodontic tipping forces. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop In Press 2011.

220. Paetyangkul A. The extent of root resorption after the application of continuous and controlled orthodontic forces for 12 weeks: A micro-ct scan study Sydney: The University of Sydney 2007: p. 11.

221. Goldson L, Henrikson CO. Root resorption during Begg treatment; a longitudinal roentgenologic study. Am J Orthod 1975;68:55-66.

222. Janson GR, De Luca Canto G, Martins DR, Henriques JF, De Freitas MR. A radiographic comparison of apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment with 3 different fixed appliance techniques. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2000;118:262-273.

223. Kuperstein R. External apical root resorption of the maxillary central incisor in anterior open bite malocclusion American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopaedics 2005;127:393-394.

224. Hall AM. Upper incisor root resorption during stage II of the Begg technique: two case reports. Br J Orthod 1978;5:47-50.

225. Reukers EA, Sanderink GC, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, van't Hof MA. Radiographic evaluation of apical root resorption with 2 different types of edgewise appliances. Results of a randomized clinical trial. J Orofac Orthop 1998;59:100-109.

226. Levander E, Malmgren O, Stenback K. Apical root resorption during orthodontic treatment of patients with multiple aplasia: a study of maxillary incisors. Eur J Orthod 1998;20:427-434.

227. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment: Part 1. Literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1993;103:62-66.

228. Goldin B. Labial root torque: effect on the maxilla and incisor root apex. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;95:208-219.

229. Liou EJ, Chang PM. Apical root resorption in orthodontic patients with en-masse maxillary anterior retraction and

intrusion with miniscrews. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2010;137:207-212.

230. Stenvik A, Mjor IA. Pulp and dentine reactions to experimental tooth intrusion. A histologic study of the initial changes. Am J Orthod 1970;57:370-385.

231. Han G, Huang S, Von den Hoff JW, Zeng X, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Root resorption after orthodontic intrusion and extrusion: an intraindividual study. Angle Orthod 2005;75:912-918.

232. Weekes WT, Wong PD. Extrusion of root-filled incisors in beagles--a light microscope and scanning electron microscope investigation. Aust Dent J 1995;40:115-120.

233. Reitan K. Effects of force magnitude and direction of tooth movement on different alveolar bone types. Angle Orthod 1964;34:244-255.

234. Follin ME, Ericsson I, Thilander B. Occurrence and distribution of root resorption in orthodontically moved premolars in dogs. Angle Orthod 1986;56:164-175.

235. Rudolph DJ, Willes PMG, Sameshima GT. A finite element model of apical force distribution from orthodontic tooth movement. Angle Orthod 2001;71:127-131.

236. Shaw AM, Sameshima GT, Vu HV. Mechanical stress generated by orthodontic forces on apical root cementum: a finite element model. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:98-107.

237. Field C, Ichim I, Swain MV, Chan E, Darendeliler MA, Li W et al. Mechanical responses to orthodontic loading: a 3-dimensional finite element multi-tooth model. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;135:174-181.

238. Chan E, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 5. Volumetric analysis of root resorption craters after application of light and heavy orthodontic forces. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;127:186-195.

239. McGuinness NJ, Wilson AN, Jones ML, Middleton J. A stress analysis of the periodontal ligament under various orthodontic loadings. Eur J Orthod 1991;13:231-242.

240. Wu AT, Turk T, Colak C, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones A, Petocz P. Physical properties of root cementum: part 18: The extent of root resorption following the application of light and heavy controlled rotational orthodontic forces for 4 weeks - A Micro -CT Study. Unpublished. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop In press 2011. 241. Chan EK, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Validation of twodimensional measurements of root resorption craters on human premolars after 28 days of force application. Eur J Orthod 2005;27:390-395.

242. Faltin RM, Faltin K, Sander FG, Arana-Chavez VE. Ultrastructure of cementum and periodontal ligament after continuous intrusion in humans: a transmission electron microscopy study. Eur J Orthod 2001;23:35-49.

243. Bondevik O. Tissue changes in the rat molar periodontium following application of intrusive forces. Eur J Orthod 1980;2:41-49.

244. Hohmann A, Wolfram U, Geiger M, Boryor A, Sander C, Faltin R et al. Periodontal ligament hydrostatic pressure with areas of root resorption after application of a continuous torque moment. Angle Orthod 2007;77:653-659.

245. Hohmann A, Wolfram U, Geiger M, Boryor A, Kober C, Sander C et al. Correspondences of hydrostatic pressure in periodontal ligament with regions of root resorption: a clinical and a finite element study of the same human teeth. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2009;93:155-161.

246. Hollender L, Ronnerman A, Thilander B. Root resorption, marginal bone support and clinical crown length in orthodontically treated patients. Eur J Orthod 1980;2:197-205.

247. Sharpe W, Reed B, Subtelny JD, Polson A. Orthodontic relapse, apical root resorption, and crestal alveolar bone levels. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1987;91:252-258.

248. Jacobson O. Clinical significance of root resorption. American Journal of Orthodontics 1952;38:687-696.

249. Levander E, Malmgren O. Long-term follow-up of maxillary incisors with severe apical root resorption. Eur J Orthod 2000;22:85-92.

250. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption. Part II: The clinical aspects. Angle Orthod 2002;72:180-184.

251. Shackelford JF. Introduction to materials science for engineers. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company; 1988.

252. Rosa A. Electromagnetic and circuits. In: Tapley BD, editor. Eshbach's handbook of engineering fundamentals. New York: Wiley; 1990. p. 11.41-54.

253. Cutnell JD, Johnson KW. Cutnell & Johnson Physics. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1998.

254. Bondemark L. Orthodontic magnets. A study of force and field pattern, biocompatibility and clinical effects. Swedish Dental Journal - Supplement 1994;99:1-148.

255. Riley MA, Walmsley AD, Harris IR. Magnets in prosthetic dentistry. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 2001;86:137-142.

256. Riley MA. Magnets in Medicine. Mater Sci Tech 2002;18:1-18.257. Jiles D. An introduction to magnetism and magnetic materialsLondon: Chapman and Hall; 1988.

258. Behrman SJ. Magnets implanted in the mandible: aid to denture retention. American Dental Association 1964;68:206-215. 259. Harris IR. Hard magnets. Mater Science Technol 1990;6:962-966.

260. Strnat KJ. The hard magnet properties of rare earth-transition metal alloys. IEEE Trans Magn 1972;8:511-516.

261. Tawara Y, Strnat KJ. Rare earth-cobalt permanent magnets near the 2-17 composition. IEEE Trans Magn 1976;12:954-958.

262. Sagawa M, Furimura S, Togowa N, Yamatoto H, Matsuura Y. New material for permanent magnets on a base of Nd and Fe. J Appl Phys 1984;55:2083-2087.

263. Croat JJ, Herbst JF, Lee RW, Pinkerton FE. Pr-Fe and Nd-Fe based materials: a new class of high-performance permanent magnets (invited). J Appl Phys 1984;55:2078-2082.

264. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Wennberg A. Orthodontic rare earth magnets--in vitro assessment of cytotoxicity. British Journal of Orthodontics 1994;21:335-341.

265. Blechman AM, Smiley H. Magnetic force in orthodontics. American Journal of Orthodontics 1978;74:435-443.

266. Cerny R. The reaction of dental tissues to magnetic fields. Australian Dental Journal 1980;25:264-268.

267. Tsutsui H, Kinouchi Y, Sasaki H, Shiota M, Ushita T. Studies on the Sm-Co magnet as a dental material. Journal of Dental Research 1979;58:1597-1606.

268. Evans RD, McDonald F. Effect of corrosion products (neodymium iron boron) on oral fibroblast proliferation. Journal of Applied Biomaterials 1995;6:199-202.

269. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Wennberg A. Biocompatibility of new, clinically used, and recycled orthodontic samarium-cobalt

magnets. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1994a;105:568-574.

270. Vardimon AD, Mueller HJ. *In vivo* and *in vitro* corrosion of permanent magnets in orthodontics. Journal of Dental Research 1985;64:185 (Abstract).

271. Kitsugi A, Okuno O, Nakano T, Hamanaka H, Kuroda T. The corrosion behavior of Nd2Fe14B and SmCo5 magnets. Dental Materials Journal 1992;11:119-129.

272. Sandler PJ, Meghji S, Murray AM, Springate SD, Sandy JR, Crow V et al. Magnets and orthodontics. British Journal of Orthodontics 1989;16:243-249.

273. Papadopulos M, Hoerler I, Gerber B, Rahn B, Rakosi T. Biological effects of static magnetic fields on osteoblast cells in culture. European Journal of Orthodontics 1990;12:490.

274. Cerny R. Magneto-orthodontics: the application of magnetic forces to orthodontics. Australian Orthodontic Journal 1978;5:105-113.

275. Yiu EY, Fang DT, Chu FC, Chow TW. Corrosion resistance of iron-platinum magnets. Journal of Dentistry 2004;32:423-429.

276. Angelini E, Pezzoli M, Zucchi F. Corrosion under static and dynamic conditions of alloys used for magnetic retention in dentistry. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 1991;65:848-853.

277. Drago CJ. Tarnish and corrosion with the use of intraoral magnet. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 1991;66:536-540.

278. Kawata T, Hirota K, Sumitani K, Umehara K, Yano K, Jer Tzeng H et al. A new orthodontic force system of magnetic brackets. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1987;92.

279. Camilleri S, McDonald F. Static magnetic field effects on the sagittal suture in Rattus Norvegicus. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1993;103:240-246.

280. Linder-Aronson A, Lindskog S. Effects of static magnetic fields on human periodontal fibroblasts *in vitro*. Swedish Dental Journal 1995;19:131-137.

281. Sato K, Yamaguchi H, Miyatomo H, Kinouchi Y. Growth of human cultured cells exposed to a non-homogeneous static magnetic field generated by Sm-Co magnets. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1992;1136:231-238. 282. Yamaguchi H, Hosokawa K, Soda A, Myatomo H, Kinouchi Y. Effects of seven months' exposure to a static 0.2 T magnetic field on growth and glycolytic activity on human gingival fibroblasts. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1993;1156:302-306.

283. Cerny R. The biological effects of implanted magnetic fields. Part 1. Mammalian blood cells. Australian Orthodontic Journal 1979;6:64-70.

284. Cerny R. The biological effects of implanted magnetic fields. Part II. Mammalian tissues. Australian Orthodontic Journal 1980;6:114-117.

285. Altay O. The biological effects of implanted magnetic fields on the bone tissue of dogs. International Journal of Oral Maxillofacial Implants 1991;6:345-349.

286. Bruce GK, Howlett CR, Huckstep RL. Effect of static magnetic field on fracture healing in a rabbit radius. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research 1987;222:300-306.

287. Darendeliler MA, Sinclair PM, Kusy RP. The effects of samarium-cobalt magnets and pulsed electromagnetic fields on tooth movement. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1995;107:578-588.

288. Darendeliler MA, Darendeliler A, Sinclair PM, Kusy RP. Effects of static and pulsed electromagnetic fields on orthodontic tooth movement and bone healing. European Journal of Orthodontics 1993;15:335.

289. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Larsson A. Long-term effects of orthodontic magnets on human buccal mucosa--a clinical, histological and immunohistochemical study. European Journal of Orthodontics 1998;20:211-218.

290. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Larsson A. Human dental pulp and gingival tissue after static magnetic field exposure. European Journal of Orthodontics 1995;17:85-91.

291. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Voss LR, Muller TP. Functional orthopedic magnetic appliance (FOMA) III--modus operandi. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1990;97:135-148.

292. Darendeliler MA, Joho JP. Magnetic activator device II (MAD II) for correction of Class II, division 1 malocclusions. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1993;103:223-239.

293. Vardimon AD, Stutzmann JJ, Graber TM, Voss LR, Petrovic AG. Functional orthopedic magnetic appliance (FOMA) II--modus operandi. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1989;95:371-387.

294. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Voss LR, Verrusio E. Magnetic versus mechanical expansion with different force thresholds and points of force application. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1987;92:455-466.

295. Darendeliler MA, Chiarini M, Joho JP. Case report: early class III treatment with magnetic appliances. Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1993;27:563-569.

296. Dellinger EL. A clinical assessment of the active vertical corrector - a nonsurgical alternative for skeletal open bite treatment. American Journal of Orthodontics 1986;89:428-436.

297. Bondemark L, Kurol J, Hallonsten AL, Andreasen JO. Attractive magnets for orthodontic extrusion of crown-root fractured teeth. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1997;112:187-193.

298. Bondemark L, Kurol J. Force-distance relation and properties of repelling Sm-Co5 magnets in orthodontic clinical use: an experimental model. Scandinavian Journal of Dental Research 1992;100:228-231.

299. Proffit WR, Fields HW, Sarver DM. Contemporary Orthodontics. St Louis: Mosby; 2007.

300. Bondemark L, Kurol J. Distalization of Maxillary First and Second Molars Simultaneously with Repelling Magnets. European Journal of Orthodontics 1992;14:264-272.

301. Erverdi N, Koyuturk O, Kucukkeles N. Nickel-titanium coil springs and repelling magnets: a comparison of two different intra-oral molar distalisation techniques. British Journal of Orthodontics 1997;24:47-53.

302. Itoh T, Tsunehro T, Seigo K. Molar distalisation with repelling magnets. Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1991;25:611-617.

303. Bondemark L, Kurol J. Proximal alveolar bone level after orthodontic treatment with magnets, superelastic coils and straight-wire appliances. Angle Orthodontist 1997;67:7-14.

304. McCord JF, Harvie H. Magnet used to extrude root of incisor with subgingival fracture. British Dental Journal 1984;157:320-322.

305. Malmgren O, Malmgren B, Goldson L. Orthodontic management of the traumatized dentition. In: Andreasen JO, Andreasen FM, editors. Textbook and colour atlas of traumatic injuries to the teeth. Copenhagen: Munksgaard; 1994. p. 600-633.

306. Darendeliler MA, Friedli JM. Case Report: treatment of an Impacted Canine with Magnets Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1994;28:639-643.

307. Mancini GP, Noar JH, Evans RD. The physical characteristics of neodymium iron boron magnets for tooth extrusion. European Journal of Orthodontics 1999;21:541-550.

308. Sandler JP. An attractive solution to unerupted teeth. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1991;100:489-493.

309. Sandler PJ, Springate SD. Unerupted premolars--an alternative approach. British Journal of Orthodontics 1991;18:315-321.

310. Cole BO, Shaw AJ, Hobson RS, Nunn JH, Welbury RR, Meechan JG et al. The role of magnets in the management of unerupted teeth in children and adolescents. International Journal of Paediatric Dentistry 2003;13:204-207.

311. Yuksel S, Darendeliler MA, Meral O. Induced magnetic eruption of impacted premolars in hereditarily disposed patient. . Informationen aus Orthodontie und Kiefer-orthopadie 1995;27:149-156.

312. Springate SD, Sandler JP. Micro-magnetic retainers: an attractive solution to fixed retention. British Journal of Orthodontics 1991;18:139-141.

313. Davis GR, Wong FSL. X-Ray microtomography of bones and teeth. Physiological Measurement 1996;17:121-146.

314. Hounsfield GN. Computerized transverse axial scanning (tomography): Part I. Description of system. 1973. Br J Radiol 1995;68:H166-172.

315. Feldkamp LA, Davis LC, Kress JW. Practical cone-beam algorithm. J Opt Soc Am A 1984;1:612-619.

316. Lysell L. Plicae palatinae transversae and papilla incisiva in man; a morphologic and genetic study. Acta Odontol Scand 1955;13:5-137.

317. Yee J. The rate of tooth movement and dentoalveolar stress under heavy and light continuous orthodontic forces studied with a three dimensional finite element model. Orthodontics Sydney: The University of Sydney; 2007.

318. Abdel-Aziz HM, Sabet NE. Palatal rugae area: a landmark for analysis of pre and post-orthodontically treated adult Egyptian patients. East Mediterr Health J. 2001;7:60-66.

319. Almeida MA, Phillips C, Kula K, Tulloch C. Stability of the palatal rugae as landmarks for analysis of dental casts. Angle Orthod 1995;65:43-48.

320. Bailey LT, Esmailnejad A, Almeida MA. Stability of the palatal rugae as landmarks for analysis of dental casts in extraction and nonextraction cases. Angle Orthod 1996;66:73-78.

321. Hoggan BR, Sadowsky C. The use of palatal rugae for the assessment of anteroposterior tooth movements. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2001;119:482-488.

322. Jang I, Tanaka M, Koga Y, Iijima S, Yozgatian JH, Cha BK et al. A novel method for the assessment of three-dimensional tooth movement during orthodontic treatment. Angle Orthod 2009;79:447-453.

323. van der Linden FP. Changes in the position of posterior teeth in relation to ruga points. Am J Orthod 1978;74:142-161.

324. Choi DS, Jeong YM, Jang I, Jost-Brinkmann PG, Cha BK. Accuracy and reliability of palatal superimposition of threedimensional digital models. Angle Orthod 2010;80:497-503.

325. Cha BK, Choi JI, Jost-Brinkmann PG, Jeong YM. Applications of three-dimensionally scanned models in orthodontics. Int J Comput Dent 2007;10:41-52.

326. Asquith J, Gillgrass T, Mossey P. Three-dimensional imaging of orthodontic models: a pilot study. Eur J Orthod 2007;29:517-522.

327. Costalos PA, Sarraf K, Cangialosi TJ, Efstratiadis S. Evaluation of the accuracy of digital model analysis for the American Board of Orthodontics objective grading system for dental casts. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;128:624-629.

328. Gracco A, Buranello M, Cozzani M, Siciliani G. Digital and plaster models: a comparison of measurements and times. Prog Orthod 2007;8:252-259.

329. Mullen SR, Martin CA, Ngan P, Gladwin M. Accuracy of space analysis with emodels and plaster models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2007;132:346-352.

330. Macchi A, Carrafiello G, Cacciafesta V, Norcini A. Threedimensional digital modeling and setup. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;129:605-610.

331. Motohashi N, Kuroda T. A 3D computer-aided design system applied to diagnosis and treatment planning in orthodontics and orthognathic surgery. Eur J Orthod 1999;21:263-274.

332. Fischer-Brandies H, Orthuber W, Laibe J, Menzel E. Continuous arch wire technique using the bending art system. J Orofac Orthop 1997;58:198-205.

333. Owen AH, 3rd. Accelerated Invisalign treatment. J Clin Orthod 2001;35:381-385.

334. Sachdeva RC. SureSmile technology in a patient--centered orthodontic practice. J Clin Orthod 2001;35:245-253.

335. Cha BK, Lee JY, Jost-Brinkmann PG, Yoshida N. Analysis of tooth movement in extraction cases using three-dimensional reverse engineering technology. Eur J Orthod 2007;29:325-331.

336. Miller RJ, Kuo E, Choi W. Validation of Align Technology's Treat III digital model superimposition tool and its case application. Orthod Craniofac Res 2003;6 Suppl 1:143-149.

5. MANUSCRIPT



The Extent of Root Resorption and Tooth Movement Following the Application of Ascending and Descending Magnetic Forces: A microcomputed-tomography Study

This manuscript is to be submitted to the American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics.

The extent of root resorption and tooth movement following the application of ascending and descending magnetic forces: A microcomputed-tomography study

Tiffany Teen Yu Huang BDent, BSc(Hon) Doctor of Philosophy Student Doctor of Clinical Dentistry Student Discipline of Orthodontics Faculty of Dentistry University of Sydney, Australia

Ersan Ilsay Karadeniz

DDS, PhD

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney, Australia

Carmen Gonzales

DDS, PhD, D.Ortho

Senior Lecturer

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney, Australia

William Walsh

PhD (Biomedical engineering), BA (Biology), BA (Chemistry)

Professor and Director

Surgical and Orthopaedic Research Laboratories

University of New South Wales

Sydney, Australia

Peter Petocz

Statistician

PhD (Statistics)

Department of Statistics

Macquarie University

Sydney, Australia

Honorary Associate

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney

Oyku Dalci, DDS, PhD

Lecturer

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney

Tamer Turk

DDS, PhD

Professor

Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry

Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey

M. Ali Darendeliler

BDS, PhD, DipOrth, CeritfOrth, Priv Doc

Professor and Chair

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney, Australia

Address for correspondence:

Professor M. Ali Darendeliler

Discipline of Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry

University of Sydney

Level 2, 2 Chalmers Street, Surry Hills. NSW 2010 Australia

Phone + 61 2 9351 8314 / Fax + 61 2 9351 8336

Email: ali.darendeliler@sydney.edu.au

5.1. Abstract

Intruduction: Various factors have been examined in the literature in an attempt to reduce the incidence and severity of root resorption. The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of ascending and descending force (generated by magnets) on root resorption. Methods: 20 maxillary first premolars from 10 human were subjected to ascending (25 to 225g, magnets in attraction) and descending (225 to 25g, magnets in repulsion) buccal forces using a split mouth design over a 8 week period. PVS impressions were taken at week 0, 4 and 8 to record the tooth movement. After 8 weeks, the teeth were extracted, scanned with micro-CT in 16.9 µm resolution, and the root resorption craters were localised and quantified. **Results:** The total volume of root resorption with ascending force was 1.20 mm³, and with descending force was 1.25 mm³, and there was no statistically significant difference between them. The root resorption on the palatal surface (0.012 mm^3) was significantly less than on the buccal surface (0.057 mm^3) and than on the mesial surface (0.035 mm^3) . The vertical locations (cervical, middle, and apical) showed no statistically significant difference in root resorption. The amount of tooth movement after ascending and descending force application was not statistically significant. Conclusions: Orthodontic ascending and descending forces, from 25 to 225 grams and from 225 to 25 grams respectively, do not cause different amount of root resorption or tooth movement following eight weeks of force application.

5.2. Introduction

Orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption (OIIRR) is the pathological inflammatory process that results in loss of mineralised cementum and dentine concurrent with removal of hyalinized tissue¹⁻³. This phenomenon is due to the overcompression of the periodontal ligament (PDL) which results in aseptic coagulation necrosis process (hyalinization). OIIRR has been demonstrated to be influenced by a variety of mechanical and/or biological factors. The biological and environmental factors include: genetics^{4,5,6}, ethnicity^{7,8,9}, endocrine imbalance^{10,11}, asthma^{12,13}, medications^{14,15,16,17,18}, nutrition¹⁹, alveolar bone density and turn over rate¹⁰. In addition, mechanical factors include the type of orthodontic appliance^{20,21}, treatment duration²²⁻³⁰, direction of force application^{31,32,33}, magnitude of force application³⁴⁻³⁸, duration of force application^{39,40}, and, distance of tooth movement^{40,28}.

In particular, orthodontic force magnitude has been shown to be a major factor in OIIRR in many animal^{18,41,42} and human³⁴⁻³⁸ studies. Light forces have been recommended to reduce adverse tissue reactions^{2,43,44}. In addition, recent series of studies by Darendeliler and colleagues^{21,45,46} demonstrated the force magnitude as a significant factor for the extent of root resorption with the heavy force group having 3.31-fold greater amount of root resorption than light force group⁴⁶. In

contrast, some other studies proposed no relationship between force magnitude and severity of OIIRR^{47,48}.

The relationship between force magnitude delivered by orthodontic appliances and the rate of orthodontic tooth movement remains controversial. According to Quinn and Yoshikawa, the rate of tooth movement is related to the force magnitude applied⁴⁹. In a human study, heavy force application demonstrated an increased amount of tooth movement in canine distalisation⁵⁰. In contrast, it was also shown that light force produced more tooth movement after 28 days¹⁸. However, others proposed that there is no or direct relationship between force magnitude, type of tooth movement, and amount of displacement^{51,52}. Using a mathematic model, Ren et al concluded that no optimal force nor force range could be calculated to produce maximum tooth movement⁵³. Variables previously mentioned, such as alveolar bone density, force magnitude, direction, distribution and duration need to be considered in obtaining optimal tooth movement.

Magnets have a wide range of application in orthodontics such as: intrusion^{54,55}, expansion⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸, tooth impaction⁵⁹⁻⁶¹, and functional appliances⁶²⁻⁶⁵. In addition, magnets have been used in orthodontic tooth movement during complex intra and inter-arch mechanics⁶⁶, molar distalisation^{67,68}, without arch wires⁶⁹, and as magnetic edgewise brackets^{70,71}.

127

Force consistency and continuity are vital in an optimal orthodontic force system⁷². Apart from superelastic NiTi, orthodontic force application decreases with time and tooth movement. Using magnets, it is possible to deliver gradual and smooth change in force magnitude, with the force produced by the magnets inversely proportional to the fourth root of the distance between them⁷³. In addition, magnets deliver predictable force levels with no loss of force and provide frictionless mechanics^{74,75}.

Many studies have reported OIIRR using different type of orthodontic appliances. In the current literature, the two studies investigating the effects of magnets on tooth movement and root resorption were done on rats^{76,77}. However, currently there is no reported human studies of RR utilising ascending and descending forces using magnetic appliances.

The aim of this study was, therefore, to investigate the amount of OIIRR and tooth movement using ascending and descending forces generated by magnets.

5.3. Material and Methods

Twenty maxillary first premolar teeth were collected from 10 patients (7 females, 3 males, mean age 15.8 years; range 14.5 - 17.4 years) who required extractions for orthodontic purposes at the University of Ondokuz Mayis, Samsun, Turkey. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Ondokuz Mayis Medical Faculty Ethics Committee and from the Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of Sydney (ethics approval numbers EK:273 and X09-0277 respectively). The subject selection criteria were in accordance with previous studies in the department⁷⁸: 1) requiring the removal of bilateral maxillary first premolar teeth as part of orthodontic treatment, 2) similar minimal crowding on each side of the maxillary arch, 3) no craniofacial anomalies, 4) no significant medical history or medication that would adversely affect the development or structure of the teeth and jaws and any subsequent tooth movement, 5) no previous orthodontic or orthopaedic treatment, 6) tooth is vital, in normal function, and not previously restored, 7) no history of trauma, bruxism, or parafunction, and 8) no past or present signs and symptoms of periodontal disease. Written informed consents were obtained.

The subjects' upper first molars were bonded with a passive trans-palatal arch (Fig. 1, Fig. 2A). This provided an anchorage so the tooth movements are fully expressed on the experimental teeth, the first premolars. The acrylic on occlusal surface of molars acted as occlusal stop to prevent occlusal interferences. A full

dimension stainless steel cantilever wire extended from the molar buccal tube to the region of the first premolar with a magnet attached at the end. Another magnet was attached onto the buccal surface of the first premolar. The magnets were of circular shape with a hollow centre to allow the passage of a guiding pin. The magnets used in this study were neodymium-iron-boron magnets (Nd-Fe-B, AMF Magnetics, Sydney, Australia) with Nickel and Copper coating (15-20 μ m). Using the Mach-1universal testing machine (Biosyntech Inc, Quebec, Canada) with a 10 kg load cell and a customised mounting jig, force measurement (in grams) was commenced with the magnetic pair in contact initially and then the magnets were vertically separated 10mm at a speed of 12mm/min. The magnets utilised in this study had the following dimensions: Outer Diameter = 5mm, Inner Diameter = 1mm, and Height = 0.75mm (Fig. 2B). These magnets produced the force magnitude ranging from 25 to 225g as depicted by the force-displacement graph (Fig. 3).

The ascending or descending force was produced by the polarity of magnets in attraction or repulsion. On the premolar tooth with ascending force exerted upon it, the magnet attached to the tooth surface had the opposite magnetic pole to the magnet attached to the cantilever arm which acted as the reference point (Fig. 2D). On the premolar tooth with descending forces exerted upon it, the repulsive force was generated by magnets in the same polarity. The magnet was connected to the premolar tooth via the pin which was positioned exterior to the cantilever arm. As the exterior magnet was repulsed from the magnet on the cantilever arm,

the distance between the magnets increased as the premolar tooth moved bucally closer to the cantilever arm, thus the force magnitude decreased (Fig. 2C).

The subjects were assessed every 4 weeks to ensure the experimental appliances were in good condition. In addition, maxillary arch impression with poly vinyl siloxane material (Imprint II Regular Body/Light Body, 3M ESPE, St Paul, Minn) was taken at three time points: Week 0 (appliance placement), Week 4 and Week 8 (appliance removal). Impressions were poured with die stone (Vel-mix, Kerr, Orange, Calif). The casts were scanned with OpenScan 3D Laser Scanner (Laserdenta, GmbH Germany). Stable palatal reference points ^{79,80} and the buccal and lingual cusp tips of the first premolars were marked on digitized models with VG Studio Max v.2.0. This scanner provides a resolution as high as 20 micron (0.02 mm) in each scan. Surface Tesselation Language (STL) formatted files then were superimposed by matching the reference points in three dimensional space (Fig.4). The rate of tooth movement was determined by the measuring buccal and palatal cusps movements separately and averaging (Fig.4) Each measurement was repeated 4 times and the mean value was calculated for each sample.

After 8 weeks of experimentation, the first premolar teeth were extracted carefully to prevent surgical trauma to the root cementum. The extracted teeth were immediately stored in labelled containers containing sterilised deionized water (Milli Q, Millipore, Bedford, Mass) which was previously demonstrated to be suitable storage medium⁸¹. Each tooth was placed in ultrasonic bath for 10 min to

131

loosen all traces of residual periodontal ligament and soft tissue fragments which were subsequently removed by a dampened gauze with a rubbing motion. The teeth were then disinfected in 70% alcohol for 30 min and bench dried at ambient room temperature $(23^{0}C \pm 1^{0}C)$ for 24 hrs.

A desktop X-ray micro-tomography system (SkyScan 1172, SkyScan N.V., Aartselaar, Belgium), capable of achieving near 1 x 10^{-7} cubic mm voxel size, was used to scan each tooth. Prior to scanning the teeth, a new Flat Field Reference was acquired to correct for sensor non–uniformity and ensures the sensor is in optimal working condition. Teeth was rotated over 360° at 0.2° rotation steps, scanned with X-rays at a voltage of 100 keV and 100 µA current. The high camera resolution setting produce an image matrix of 1500 x 1048 pixels, 1800 projections, frame averaging of 4, and random movement amplitude of 20 lines on the camera. In addition, Geometrical correction, Median Filtering, and Flat Field Correction were applied. A 1.0mm thick aluminium filter was placed infront of the detector and the resulting X-ray energy spectrum had an effective mean energy of approximately 60 keV.

The resulting 2D shadow/transmission images (16 bit TIF) were used to reconstruct the 3D object by using a 3D cone beam reconstruction algorithm (NRecon, Version 1.4.2). Beam hardening artifact was corrected by preselecting a correction level that minimized the artifact shown in the preview image, typically a value of 70 to 80 in the NRecon software was chosen. A resulting

dataset of isotropic 16.9 μ m voxel size resolution was achieved. Data was maintained at 16 bit TIF information.

For visualisation and analysis of three dimensional/volumetric data, VGStudio Max 1.2 (Volume Graphics GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) was used to analyse root resorption craters. The root surfaces on buccal and lingual aspects will be divided into three levels (cervical, middle, apical). Positive identification of craters was confirmed by scrolling through axial and Sagittal slices. The resorption craters was located individually, isolated by limiting coordinates in 3 planes of space in VGStudiomax (Fig. 5). The data was then exported to convex hull software (Chull 2D, developed by Dr Allan S. Jones at the University of Sydney) to provide a direct measure of the concave volume of the 3-dimensional data set.

Statistical analysis

SPSS version 18 (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, USA) was used for statistical analysis. A general linear model was used to investigate the differences in total root resorption between subjects using ascending and descending forces. Further comparisons were undertaken using the position on the tooth as another factor. The analysis was carried out using the cube root of the total volume of root resorption as the response variable in order to satisfy the statistical assumptions required for application of these techniques. It essentially measures the amount of resorption by the radius (mm) of an equivalent hemispherical crater rather than by the volume in mm³ and has been employed by this research team in previous studies^{32,46}.

The analyses included the subject as a random factor; and the force, surface, and height as the fixed factors. The paired *t*-tests were used to determine the significance of intraindividual differences in root resorption between ascending and descending forces. The differences in tooth movement between ascending and descending forces were also examined by paired t-tests.

25% of sample was rescanned and the standard error of measurement for root resorption crater volumes was less than 2% of the actual mean measurement.

5.4. Results

The reconstructed 3D image of premolar tooth in Figure 5 shows detailed topography of root surface with resorption craters.

Ascending and descending forces produced root resorption in all teeth. The total mean volume of root resorption with ascending force was 1.20 mm³, the descending force was 1.25 mm³, and there was no statistically significant difference between them (Fig. 6 and Table I). The power analysis shows a 90% power of finding a difference of 0.24 (on cube root scale), and a 75% power of finding a difference of 0.20. These differences were much larger than the differences of 0.03 detected in this study. That is, the study sample size was large enough to detect 0.24 difference if it really does exist, and the study result of 0.03 difference was likely just chance.

Using an ANOVA model for crater volume (crt vol) with surface, height and side as fixed factors and subject as random factor, there was no significant effect of side (ascending vs descending, p=0.11, Fig.6, Table I) or height (cervical, middle, and apical, p=1.00, Fig. 6, Table II). The surface was marginally significant (p=0.04) with the palatal surface significantly less than on the buccal surface and mesial surface (Fig. 7, Table III). After 4 weeks of application of ascending and descending forces, the tooth movement was found 0.94 ± 0.33 and 1.00 ± 0.39 mm, respectively. At 8 weeks, the total tooth movement was 1.40 ± 0.46 and 1.74 ± 0.53 mm, respectively (Fig. 8). However, there was no significant difference between the groups (diff=0.34 p=0.136).

Using a power analysis, it shows that there is a 24% power of finding a difference of 0.34mm significant, and a 94% power of finding a difference of 1mm significant in cube root scale. That is, if the real difference between ascending and descending force was 1mm, then we would have 94% power of finding it, therefore, this study sample was large enough to detect a 1 mm difference if it really does exist. In this study we found 0.34mm difference, i.e. approximately one third of 1mm difference, therefore it is likely the difference was just chance.

5.5. Discussion

Extensive research on RR, the inevitable side-effect of orthodontic treatment, encompasses the common goal of employing the most efficient and effective force application to create desired tooth movement whilst causing minimal RR. Direct correlation of the magnitude of orthodontic force applied and the severity of root resorption had been demonstrated^{36,46}. The force magnitude in the initial phase of tooth movement is important because significant environmental changes occur⁸². And the general consensus in the literature recommend continuous light force, that is, tooth movement by frontal resorption with minimal hyalinized or necrotic changes associated with root resorption¹.

The different characteristic changes in magnitude of the force were considered to be a factor that may contribute to the extent of RR. The effects of increasing or decreasing orthodontic forces, which are possible by the use of magnets, on RR and tooth movement have not previously been investigated in humans. This study identified the presence of OIIRR craters on human premolar teeth after application of either ascending or descending forces, and root resorption craters were quantified using micro-CT. Our study demonstrated that the volume of RR for both ascending (1.20 mm³) and descending (1.25 mm³) force application sides were comparable, and there was no statistically significant difference between them. This finding is comparable to Owman-Moll^{47,48}, who postulated that the severity of root resorption (extension and depth of resorbed root contour and size of root area on histological sections) did not differ significantly when the applied force (50 cN) was doubled to 100 cN and increased four fold to 200cN.

The root resorption seen on the descending force side was not surprising as the initial force levels were similar to that of our previous studies using heavy forces³³. However the results of our ascending force side is in contrast to the animal study in rats which demonstrated effective tooth movement using increasing magnetic force with no pathological changes such as RR⁷⁶. Using magnets initially placed apart, it was postulated that ascending forces, as the force levels would start off light, would induce the smooth progression of tooth movement by frontal resorption, before the gradual increase in force magnitude as the magnets move closer together⁷⁶. However, as magnets move closer, force levels might reach levels above physiological limits in ascending force design (Fig.3); which might explain the similar extent of root resorption observed for ascending and descending force sides in our study, comparable to that of RR values found in previous heavy force studies 21 . One possible explanation for the similar root resorption craters between the ascending and descending force is because the higher end of the force range in both ascending (25 to 225g) and descending (225 to 25g) groups highly exceed the capillary blood pressure (20-25g/cm³)⁸³. As a result, both groups were subjected to high level of force during the experimental period and that caused periodontal ischemia and subsequent root resorption.

Significantly more RR on buccal surface than palatal surface was observed in this study. This was consistent with the buccal tipping movement with the cervical region of the buccal surface and the apical region on the palatal surface being the pressure areas of buccal tipping movement³³. This might also explain the difference in the results of the study by Tomizuka et al. (2006), as they have looked at resorption craters from horizontal microCT sections 1.0 mm \pm 1.0 mm above or below from root furcation.

In this study, the difference in tooth movement between the ascending and descending force groups was not statistically different in both time points (week 4 and 8). Another human study assessing tooth movement under light and heavy forces demonstrated that the force magnitude was not related to the amount of tooth movement in the initial experimental period (weeks 0-4); however, heavy force application was associated with increased amount of tooth movement in the later periods (weeks 5-8 and weeks 9-12)⁵⁰.

On the contrary in an animal study on rats comparing the amount of tooth movement with light and heavy forces, the initial tooth movement (until day 3) was not found to be different; however, from day 4 to 28, the molars have moved forwards significantly more in the light force group compared to the heavy force group^{18,84}. Using beagle dogs and skeletal anchorage, it was reported that molar moved faster with 300 cN than with 10 cN; and that, the effect of force magnitude on tooth movement had a positive dose-response relation only in the very low force range, and at higher force ranges (600 cN), no effect could be established⁸⁵.

As our study design included ascending and descending forces, the force reached high levels either at the initial stage for descending force group or towards the later stages in the ascending force group, which then might have affected tooth movement in both groups during different stages.

A number of contributing factors may have influenced the minor and statistically non significant differences in OIIRR and tooth movement between the ascending and descending force groups observed in this study. The duration of treatment (8 wks) and the distance of tooth movement (buccal tipping) in this study may not be sufficient to detect the presence of potential differences between ascending and descending forces. In addition, as previously mentioned, the force range of both groups produced high force level during the experiment. Future studies could employ longer treatment duration and larger tooth movement range (such as distalisation after extraction) and reduced heavy force levels.

5.6. Conclusions

When ascending and descending forces were applied in a buccal direction to the maxillary first premolars for 8 weeks, the following conclusions were drawn.

Orthodontic ascending and descending forces, from 25 to 225 grams and from 225 to 25 grams respectively do not cause different amount of root resorption or tooth movement following eight weeks of force application. Application of either ascending or descending orthodontic forces using magnets had comparable RR to other conventional orthodontic force application systems.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Australian Society of Orthodontists Foundation for Research and Education for their financial assistance of this research.

5.7. References

1. Brudvik P, Rygh P. Multi-nucleated cells remove the main hyalinized tissue and start resorption of adjacent root surfaces. European Journal of Orthodontics 1994;16:265-273.

2. Reitan K. Initial tissue behavior during apical root resorption. Angle Orthodontist 1974;44:68-82.

3. Rygh P. Orthodontic root resorption studied by electron microscopy. Angle Orthodontist 1977;47:1-16.

4. Harris EF, Kineret SE, Tolley EA. A heritable component for external apical root resorption in patients treated orthodontically. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1997;111:301-309.

5. Ngan DC, Kharbanda OP, Byloff FK, Darendeliler MA. The genetic contribution to orthodontic root resorption: a retrospective twin study. Aust Orthod J 2004;20:1-9.

6. Al-Qawasmi RA, Hartsfield JK, Jr., Everett ET, Flury L, Liu L, Foroud TM et al. Genetic predisposition to external apical root resorption in orthodontic patients: linkage of chromosome-18 marker. J Dent Res 2003;82:356-360.

7. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Predicting and preventing root resorption: Part I. Diagnostic factors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2001;119:505-510.

8. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Characteristics of patients with severe root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:108-114.

9. Smale I, Artun J, Behbehani F, Doppel D, van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Apical root resorption 6 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;128:57-67.

10. Goldie RS, King GJ. Root resorption and tooth movement in orthodontically treated, calcium-deficient, and lactating rats. Am J Orthod 1984;85:424-430.

11. Smith NH. Monostotic Paget's disease of the mandible presenting with progressive resorption of the teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1978;46:246-253.

12. Davidovitch Z, Godwin S, Young-Guk P, Taverne A, Dobeck J, Lilly C et al. The etiology of root resorption In: McNamara JA, C. T, editors. Orthodontic treatment: management of infavorable sequelae. Ann Arbor, Michigan, Center for Human Growth and Development, University of Michigan 1996.

13. Nishioka M, Ioi H, Nakata S, Nakasima A, Counts A. Root resorption and immune system factors in the Japanese. Angle Orthod 2006;76:103-108.

14. Verna C, Hartig LE, Kalia S, Melsen B. Influence of steroid drugs on orthodontically induced root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 2006;9:57-62.

15. Chumbley AB, Tuncay OC. The effect of indomethacin (an aspirin-like drug) on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod 1986;89:312-314.

16. Arias OR, Marquez-Orozco MC. Aspirin, acetaminophen, and ibuprofen: their effects on orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;130:364-370.

17. Villa PA, Oberti G, Moncada CA, Vasseur O, Jaramillo A, Tobon D et al. Pulp-dentine complex changes and root resorption during intrusive orthodontic tooth movement in patients prescribed nabumetone. J Endod 2005;31:61-66.

18. Gonzales C, Hotokezaka H, Yoshimatsu M, Yozgatian JH, Darendeliler MA, Yoshida N. Force magnitude and duration effects on amount of tooth movement and root resorption in the rat molar. Angle Orthod 2008;78:502-509.

19. Engstrom C, Granstrom G, Thilander B. Effect of orthodontic force on periodontal tissue metabolism. A histologic and biochemical study in normal and hypocalcemic young rats. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 1988;93:486-495.

20. McNab S, Battistutta D, Taverne A, Symons AL. External apical root resoprtion following orthodontic treatment. Angle Orthodontist 2000;70:227-232.

21. Barbagallo LJ, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 10. Comparison of the effects of invisible removable thermoplastic appliances with light and heavy orthodontic forces on premolar cementum. A microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2008;133:218-227.
22. Beck BW, Harris EF. Apical root resorption in orthodontically treated subjects: analysis of edgewise and light wire mechanics. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1994;105:350-361.

23. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment: Part 2. Literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1993;103:138-146.

24. Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment: Part 1. Literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1993;103:62-66.

25. Goldin B. Labial root torque: effect on the maxilla and incisor root apex. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;95:208-219.

26. Levander E, Malmgren O. Evaluation of the risk of root resorption during orthodontic treatment: a study of upper incisors. Eur J Orthod 1988;10:30-38.

27. McFadden WM, Engstrom C, Engstrom H, Anholm JM. A study of the relationship between incisor intrusion and root shortening. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1989;96:390-396.

28. Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. Predicting and preventing root resorption: Part II. Treatment factors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2001;119:511-515.

29. Taner T, Ciger S, Sencift Y. Evaluation of apical root resorption following extraction therapy in subjects with Class I and Class II malocclusions. Eur J Orthod 1999;21:491-496.

30. Vlaskalic V, Boyd RL, Baumrind S. Etiology and sequelae of root resorption. Semin Orthod 1998;4:124-131.

31. Artun J, Smale I, Behbehani F, Doppel D, Van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Apical root resorption six and 12 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Angle Orthodontist 2005;75:919-926.

32. Harris DA, Jones AG, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 8. Volumetric analysis of root resorption craters after application of controlled intrusive light and heavy orthodontic forces: a microcomputed tomography scan study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;130:639-647.

33. Paetyangkul A, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: part 14. The amount of root resorption after force application for 12 weeks on maxillary and mandibular premolars: a microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:492 e491-499; discussion 492-493.

34. Casa MA, Faltin RM, Faltin K, Sander FG, Arana-Chavez VE. Root resorptions in upper first premolars after application of continuous torque moment. Intra-individual study. J Orofac Orthop 2001;62:285-295.

35. Chan EK, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Validation of two-dimensional measurements of root resorption craters on human premolars after 28 days of force application. Eur J Orthod 2005;27:390-395.

36. Darendeliler MA, Kharbanda OP, Chan EK, Srivicharnkul P, Rex T, Swain MV et al. Root resorption and its association with alterations in physical properties, mineral contents and resorption craters in human premolars following application of light and heavy controlled orthodontic forces. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:79-97.

37. Faltin RM, Arana-Chavez VE, Faltin K, Sander FG, Wichelhaus A. Root resorptions in upper first premolars after application of continuous intrusive forces. Intra-individual study. J Orofac Orthop 1998;59:208-219.

38. Faltin RM, Faltin K, Sander FG, Arana-Chavez VE. Ultrastructure of cementum and periodontal ligament after continuous intrusion in humans: a transmission electron microscopy study. Eur J Orthod 2001;23:35-49.

39. Harry MR, Sims MR. Root resorption in bicuspid intrusion. A scanning electron microscope study. Angle Orthod 1982;52:235-258.

40. Maltha JC, van Leeuwen EJ, Dijkman GE, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Incidence and severity of root resorption in orthodontically moved premolars in dogs. Orthod Craniofac Res 2004;7:115-121.

41. Dellinger EL. A histologic and cephalometric investigation of premolar intrusion in the Macaca speciosa monkey. Am J Orthod 1967;53:325-355.

42. King GJ, Fischlschweiger W. The effect of force magnitude on extractable bone resorptive activity and cemental cratering in orthodontic tooth movement. J Dent Res 1982;61:775-779.

43. Reitan K. Clinical and histologic observations on tooth movement during and after orthodontic treatment. American Journal of Orthodontics 1967;53:721-745.

44. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Voss LR, Lenke J. Determinants controlling iatrogenic external root resorption and repair during and after palatal expansion. Angle Orthodontist 1991;61:113-122.

45. Cheng LL, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Jones AS, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 13. Repair of root resorption 4 and 8 weeks after the application of continuous light and heavy forces for 4 weeks: a microcomputed-tomography study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:320 e321-310; discussion 320-321.

46. Chan E, Darendeliler MA. Physical properties of root cementum: Part 5. Volumetric analysis of root resorption craters after application of light and heavy orthodontic forces. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2005;127:186-195.

47. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J, Lundgren D. Effects of a doubled orthodontic force magnitude on tooth movement and root resorptions. An inter-individual study in adolescents. Eur J Orthod 1996;18:141-150.

48. Owman-Moll P, Kurol J, Lundgren D. The effects of a four-fold increased orthodontic force magnitude on tooth movement and root resorptions. An intraindividual study in adolescents. Eur J Orthod 1996;18:287-294.

49. Quinn RS, Yoshikawa DK. A reassessment of force magnitude in orthodontics. Am J Orthod 1985;88:252-260.

50. Yee JA, Turk T, Elekdag-Turk S, Cheng LL, Darendeliler MA. Rate of tooth movement under heavy and light continuous orthodontic forces. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2009;136:150 e151-159; discussion 150-151.

51. Melsen B. Biological reaction of alveolar bone to orthodontic tooth movement. Angle Orthodontist 1999;69:151-158.

52. Kılıç N, Oktay H, Ersöz M. Effects of force magnitude on tooth movement: an experimental study in rabbits. European Journal of Orthodontics 2010;32:154-158.

53. Ren Y, Maltha JC, Van 't Hof MA, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. Optimum force magnitude for orthodontic tooth movement: a mathematic model. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2004;125:71-77.

54. Dellinger EL. A clinical assessment of the active vertical corrector - a nonsurgical alternative for skeletal open bite treatment. American Journal of Orthodontics 1986;89:428-436.

55. Kiliardis S, Egermark I, Thilander B. Anterior open bite treatment with magnets. European Journal of Orthodontics 1990;12:447-457.

56. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Voss LR, Verrusio E. Magnetic versus mechanical expansion with different force thresholds and points of force application. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1987;92:455-466.

57. Darendeliler MA, Lorenzon C. Maxillary expander using light, continuous force and autoblocking. J Clin Orthod 1996;30:212-216.

58. Darendeliler MA, Strahm C, Joho JP. Light maxillary expansion forces with the magnetic expansion device. A preliminary investigation. Eur J Orthod 1994;16:479-490.

59. Darendeliler MA, Friedli JM. Case Report: treatment of an Impacted Canine with Magnets Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1994;28:639-643.

60. Sandler JP. An attractive solution to unerupted teeth. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1991;100:489-493.

61. Sandler PJ, Springate SD. Unerupted premolars--an alternative approach. British Journal of Orthodontics 1991;18:315-321.

62. Darendeliler MA, Chiarini M, Joho JP. Early class III treatment with magnetic appliances. J Clin Orthod 1993;27:563-569.

63. Darendeliler MA, Joho JP. Magnetic activator device II (MAD II) for correction of Class II, division 1 malocclusions. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1993;103:223-239.

64. Vardimon AD, Graber TM, Voss LR, Muller TP. Functional orthopedic magnetic appliance (FOMA) III--modus operandi. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1990;97:135-148.

65. Vardimon AD, Koklu S, Iseri H, Shpack N, Fricke J, Mete L. An assessment of skeletal and dental responses to the functional magnetic system (FMS). American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 2001;120:416-426.

66. Blechman AM. Magnetic force systems in orthodontics. Clinical results of a pilot study. American Journal of Orthodontics 1985;87:201-210.

67. Bondemark L, Kurol J. Distalization of maxillary first and second molars simultaneously with repelling magnets. Eur J Orthod 1992;14:264-272.

68. Gianelly AA, Vaitas AS, Thomas WM, Berger DG. Distalization of molars with repelling magnets. Journal of Clinical Orthodontics 1988;22:40-44.

69. Muller M. The use of magnets in orthodontics: an alternative means to produce tooth movement. European Journal of Orthodontics 1984;6:247-253.

70. Darendeliler MA, Joho JP. Class II bimaxillary protrusion treated with magnetic forces. J Clin Orthod 1992;26:361-368.

71. Kawata T, Hirota K, Sumitani K, Umehara K, Yano K, Jer Tzeng H et al. A new orthodontic force system of magnetic brackets. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 1987;92.

72. Burstone CJ. The biophysics of bone remodelling during orthodontics - optimal force considerations In: Norton LA, Burstone CJ, editors. The biology of tooth movement. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1986. p. 321-333.

73. Darvell BW, Dias APLH. Non-inverse-square force-distance law for long thin magnets. Dental Materials 2006;22:909-918.

74. Darendeliler MA, Darendeliler A, Mandurino M. Clinical application of magnets in orthodontics and biological implications: a review. European Journal of Orthodontics 1997;19:431-442.

75. Noar JH, Evans RD. Rare earth magnets in orthodontics: an overview. British Journal of Orthodontics 1999;26:29-37.

76. Tomizuka R, Kanetaka H, Shimizu Y, Suzuki A, Igarashi K, Mitani H. Effects of gradually increasing force generated by permanent rare earth magnets for orthodontic tooth movement. Angle Orthod 2006;76:1004-1009.

77. Tomizuka R, Shimizu Y, Kanetaka H, Suzuki A, Urayama S, Kikuchi M et al. Histological Evaluation of the Effects of Initially Light and Gradually Increasing Force on Orthodontic Tooth Movement. The Angle Orthodontist 2007;77:410-416.

78. Malek S, Darendeliler MA, Swain MV. Physical properties of root cementum: part 1. A new method for 3-dimensioanl evaluation. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 2001;2001:198-208.

79. Almeida MA, Phillips C, Kula K, Tulloch C. Stability of the palatal rugae as landmarks for analysis of dental casts. Angle Orthodontist 1995;65:43-48.

80. Bailey LJ, Esmailnejad A, Almeida MA. Stability of the palatal rugae as landmarks for analysis of dental casts in extraction and non extraction cases. Angle Orthodontist 1996;66:73-78.

81. Malek S, Darendeliler MA, Rex T, Kharbanda OP, Srivicharnkul P, Swain MV. Physical properties of root cementum. Part 2: effect of different storage methods. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics 2003;2003.

82. Brudvik P, Rygh P. The initial phase of orthodontic root resorption incident to local compression of the periodontal ligament. European Journal of Orthodontics 1993;15:249-263.

83. Schwartz AM. Tissue changes incident to orthodontic tooth movement. Int J Orthod 1932;18:331-352.

84. Gonzales C, Hotokezaka H, Arai Y, Ninomiya T, Tominaga J, Jang I et al. An in vivo 3D micro-CT evaluation of tooth movement after the application of different force magnitudes in rat molar. Angle Orthod 2009;79:703-714.

85. van Leeuwen EJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Von den Hoff JW, Wagener FADTG, Maltha JC. Rate of orthodontic tooth movement after changing the force magnitude: an experimental study in beagle dogs. Orthod Craniofac Res 2010;13:238-245.

5.8. Figures and Tables



Α

B

С

Figure 1



A



B







Figure 2



Figure 3







Figure 5



Figure 6. Right=Descending Force. Left=Ascending Force



Figure 7 Right=Descending Force. Left=Ascending Force



Figure 8

Force	Mean	Std. Error		
Descending	1.248	0.120		
Ascending	1.203	0.120		

Table I

Height	Descending (±S.D.)	Ascending (±S.D.)	Diff (Des-Asc) (±S.D.)
Cervical	0.062 (±0.136)	0.031 (±0.064)	0.031 (±0.100)
Middle	0.022 (±0.048)	0.036 (±0.068)	-0.015 (± 0.058)
Apical	0.051 (±0.106)	0.030 (±0.065)	0.021 (± 0.086)
	•		

Table II

Surface	Descending (±S.D.)	Ascending (±S.D.)	Diff (Des-Asc) (±S.D.)
Buccal	0.057 (±0.110)	0.024 (±0.045)	0.034 (±0.078)
Palatal	0.012 (±0.034)	0.013 (±0.028)	-0.001 (±0.031)
Mesial	0.035 (±0.058)	0.032 (±0.065)	0.003 (±0.062)
Distal	0.031 (±0.084)	0.028 (±0.049)	0.002 (±0.067)

Table III

5.9. Figure and Table Captions

Figure 1. Appliance in situ. **A.** RHS buccal view. **B.** Maxillary occlusal view. **C.** LHS buccal view.

Figure 2. A. Diagrammatic presentation of appliance design. B. Magnet. C. Descending force. D. Ascending force.

Figure 3. Magnetic attachment Force-Distance graph.

Figure 4. 3D superimposing on palatal rugae to measure tooth movement.

Figure 5. Image of teeth with VGStudioMax software.

Figure 6. Box plot of the cube root volume of the resorption craters for the ascending and descending forces.

Figure 7. Box plot of the cube root volume of the resorption craters on regions of root surface.

Table I. Intraindividual differences of root resorption in (mm³) between ascending and descending force.

Table II. Intraindividual differences of root resorption (mm³) between different

 vertical regions.

Table III. Intraindividual differences of root resorption (mm³) between different surface regions.

6. APPENDICES

6.1. Patient Selection Criteria

Patients were recruited according to strict selection criteria as described below:

- 1. No previous reported or observed dental treatment to the teeth to be extracted,
- 2. No previous reported or observed trauma treatment to the teeth to be extracted,
- 3. No previous reported or observed orthodontic treatment involving the teeth to be extracted,
- 4. No past or present signs or symptoms of periodontal disease,
- 5. No past or present signs or symptoms of bruxism,
- 6. No significant medical history,
- No physical abnormality concerning the anatomy of the craniofacial or dentoalveolar complex,
- 8. Completed apexification, and
- 9. Patient residence in particular region from birth without any migration.

6.2. Mach-1 universal testing machine



6.3. Laserdenta 3D surface scanner



Laser Dental 3D Laser Scanner System



Open Scan Scanning Software



Scanning Procedure

6.4. Specimen Storage and Preparation



6.5. Skyscan 1172 Micro CT (Skyscan, Aartselaar, Belgium)



Skyscan 1172 desktop micro-CT system

Sample Mounting



Raw Images from Micro-CT Scan



Reconstructed image series using NRecon Software



Visualization and Crater Isolation





Convex Hull 2D Algorithm



7. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Orthodontic tooth movement involves bone remodelling and inflammatory process, therefore, OIIRR is an undesirable but unavoidable side effect of orthodontic treatment. Many studies have investigated the multitude of factors involved in this complex biological process. The magnitude of applied force has been a intensely investigated factor because of its effect on the stress distribution within the PDL, and the subsequent extent of hyalinization and associated frontal or underlying resorption. There are conflicting reports in the literature regarding the correlation of force magnitude and the amount of OIIRR and tooth movement.

Most studies examining the effect of force magnitude using either light or heavy force application. To our knowledge, apart from some animal studies, there are no reported studies investigating the effect of gradually changing force magnitude in human. Therefore, this study employed a novel approach using ascending and descending forces generated by a magnetic appliance.

Using sensitive and reliable investigative techniques, this study found no differences in the ascending and descending force application, both in terms of tooth movement and root resorption. In addition, the ascending and descending force had comparable RR to other conventional orthodontic force appliance. Although the sample size in this study was small, the statistical power analysis indicated that the sample investigated was large enough to detect a significant difference if there was one present.

To further investigate this topic, future studies can employ larger tooth movement range (such as space closure after extraction), longer treatment duration, and reduced heavy force levels.